File No. 220108

Committee Item No.2Board Item No.______

COMMITTEE/BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

AGENDA PACKET CONTENTS LIST

Comm: <u>Public Safety & Neighborhood Services</u> Board of Supervisors Meeting:

Date: April 28, 2022
Date:

Cmte Board

		Motion Resolution Ordinance Legislative Digest Budget and Legislative Analyst Report Youth Commission Report Introduction Form Department/Agency Cover Letter and/or Report MOU Grant Information Form Grant Budget Subcontract Budget Contract/Agreement Form 126 – Ethics Commission Award Letter Application Public Correspondence
OTHE	R	
		Informational Hearing Referral, dtd 1/29/22 Emergency Firefighting Water System 2050 Planning Study Status of Civil Grand Jury Recommendations

Prepared by:	Alisa Somera	Date:	April 22, 2022
Prepared by:		Date:	



San Francisco Public Utilities Commission

Emergency Firefighting Water System 2050 Planning Study

December 2021

Quality information

Prepared by Derrick Wong, Lu Chen		Checked by Anne Symonds		Approved by David Fyfe	
Revision	Revision date	Details	Authorized	Name	Position

Prepared for:

San Francisco Public Utilities Commission

Prepared by:

AECOM 300 Lakeside Drive Oakland, CA 94612 aecom.com

Copyright © 2021 by AECOM

All rights reserved. No part of this copyrighted work may be reproduced, distributed, or transmitted in any form or by any means without the prior written permission of AECOM.

Table of Contents

Exe	cutive Summary	1
1.	Introduction	1-1
	1.1 Background	1-1
	1.2 Study Objectives	1-3
2.	EFWS Components	2-1
	2.1 Conventional EFWS	2-1
	2.2 Potable EFWS	2-1
3.	Planning Methodology	3-1
	3.1 System Demands	3-1
	3.1.1 Demand Development	3-1
	3.1.2 Selection of Demand Target	
	3.2 Hydraulic Analysis	
	3.3 Improvements Development Approach	3-4
	3.3.1 Pipeline Coverage	
	3.3.2 Water Sources	3-5
	3.3.3 System Hydraulics	3-5
4.	System Improvements	4-1
	4.1 Conventional EFWS Pipeline Improvements	4-1
	4.1.1 Connections to Additional Water Supply Sources	4-1
	4.1.2 Infirm Area Backbone Pipelines	4-4
	4.1.3 Extension Into Areas Without Coverage	4-4
	4.1.4 Conveyance Capacity Improvements	4-7
	4.2 PEFWS Pipeline Improvements	4-10
	4.2.1 Westside	4-10
	4.2.2 Richmond Extension	4-10
	4.2.3 Portola Loop	4-10
	4.2.4 Southern Area	4-14
	4.3 Water Supply Sources	4-14
	4.3.1 Water Supply Analysis	4-14
	4.3.2 Lake Merced	4-18
	4.3.3 Seawater	4-18
	4.3.4 In-City Potable Reservoirs	4-19
	4.3.5 Regional Water System Pipelines	4-20
	4.4 Other EFWS Improvements	4-20
	4.4.1 Enhancements to System Response Capability	4-20
5.	System Performance	5-1
	5.1 Assessment of System Performance	5-1
	5.2 Performance of Existing System	5-1
	5.3 Performance of Proposed System	5-1
6.	Improvement Costs	6-1
7.	Westside Seawater Supply Feasibility	7-1
	7.1 EFWS Seawater Supply Pre-Feasibility Study	7-1
	7.2 Westside Seawater Supply Option	
8.	Conclusions	8-1
9.	References	9-1

Figures

Figure 1-1: Existing EFWS Infrastructure	1-2
Figure 2-1: Potable EFWS Schematic (Illustration by Charles Scawthorn)	2-2
Figure 3-1: 75th Percentile for Demand Case D	3-3
Figure 3-2: 75th Percentile Water Demand Following Earthquake Occurrence	3-3
Figure 4-1: Recommended EFWS Improvements	4-2
Figure 4-2: Pipeline Connections to Additional Water Supply Sources	4-3
Figure 4-3: Infirm Areas and Backbone Pipelines	4-5
Figure 4-4: Pipelines to Extend Conventional EFWS Coverage	4-6
Figure 4-5: Diameters of Existing EFWS Pipes	4-8
Figure 4-6: Pipeline Improvements to Increase Conveyance Capacity	4-9
Figure 4-7: Westside PEFWS Pipelines	4-11
Figure 4-8: Richmond Extension Pipelines	4-12
Figure 4-9: Portola Loop Pipelines	4-13
Figure 4-10: Southern Area Pipelines	4-15
Figure 4-11: Conventional EFWS and PEFWS Water Supply Sources	4-16
Figure 5-1: Delivery Capability of the Proposed System	5-3
Figure 7-1: San Francisco Subregions Considered for Seawater Supplies to EFWS (Source: AECOM 2021)	7-2
Figure 7-2: Westside Seawater Supply Option	7-4

Tables

Table 3-1: Firefighting Water Demand Cases	3-2
Table 4-1: Water Demands and Supply Analysis	4-17
Table 6-1: Estimated Cost of Proposed System Improvements (2021\$)	6-1
Table 6-2: Escalated Costs, Completion by 2034 and 2046	6-2
Table 7-1: Westside Seawater Supply Option Cost	7-5
Table 7-2: Westside Freshwater and Seawater Supply Option Costs	7-5

ACRONYMS

AWSS	Auxiliary Water Supply System
CDD	City Distribution Division
City	City and County of San Francisco
CS-199 Study	CS-199 Planning Support Services for AWSS
Spending Plan	CS-229 EFWS Spending Plan
CSPL	Crystal Springs Pipeline
EFWS	Emergency Firefighting Water System
ERDIP	Earthquake-resistant ductile iron pipe
ESER	Earthquake Safety and Emergency Response
FFEWR Study	Fire Following Earthquake Water Requirements Study
FRA	Fire Response Area
gpm	gallons per minute
MG	million gallons
PCCP	prestressed concrete cylinder pipe
PEFWS	Potable Emergency Firefighting Water System
PWSS	Portable Water Supply System
Richmond EFWS Analysis	Richmond District EFWS Options Analysis
SAPL	San Andreas Pipeline
SCADA	Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition
Seawater Pre-Feasibility Study	EFWS Seawater Supply Pre-Feasibility Study
SFFD	San Francisco Fire Department
SFPUC	San Francisco Public Utilities Commission
SSPL	Sunset Supply Pipeline
US 101	U.S. Highway 101
WSP	welded steel pipe

Executive Summary

The Emergency Firefighting Water System (EFWS) is a high-pressure fire protection water supply and distribution system that was constructed following the 1906 earthquake. The EFWS provides water for firefighting to protect people and property from risk of fire following a major earthquake, but the existing system does not serve all of San Francisco. This study identifies approximately 78 miles of pipeline improvements and eight additional water supply sources to provide coverage throughout San Francisco, and meet firefighting water demands projected for the city's growth through the year 2050. The cost of these improvements is estimated to be approximately \$1.9 billion (2021\$).

In October 2019, the San Francisco Board of Supervisors issued Resolution 422-19, responding to recommendations in the 2018-2019 City and County of San Francisco Civil Grand Jury Report, "Act Now Before it Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System" to address needed improvements to the EFWS. Those recommendations form the objectives of this planning study:

- 1. Develop a plan to provide pipelines and water supply sources for emergency firefighting water supply to all parts of San Francisco.
- 2. Use results from the EFWS Seawater Supply Pre-Feasibility Study (AECOM 2021) in the evaluation of firefighting water supplies.
- 3. Use results from the Fire Following Earthquake Water Requirements Study (Scawthorn 2021) in developing the EFWS infrastructure layout, including addressing demands that are higher than median-level, and performing analysis at finer geographical resolution than by Fire Response Area.

The fundamental starting point for evaluating and improving San Francisco's EFWS is to assess how much water is needed. The Fire Following Earthquake Water Requirements Study (Scawthorn 2021) provides these critical data not just for current conditions, but also through the year 2050 so that plans can be developed to protect San Francisco well into the future. Given the uncertainty associated with post-earthquake fire and the seismic response of water systems, it is prudent to consider conservative water demand targets that are higher than median level. In that regard, the 255,000-gallon-per-minute water demand target established for this study reflects the 75th percentile level. In addition, the study used input parameters to the selected target that contribute to more conservative citywide demand values, such as selection of maximum demand levels anticipated through the 25th hour after an earthquake.

Improvements to the EFWS, shown on Figure ES-1, the Recommended Alternative, were identified to expand system coverage to all parts of San Francisco and to meet the established demand targets. Approximately 78 miles of pipeline improvements were identified. These new pipelines provide the following benefits:

- They extend coverage to areas of San Francisco that currently do not have water supply from the EFWS pipe network.
- They improve conveyance capacity and reduce the hydraulic constraints of the existing system.
- They improve water supply reliability to areas subject to liquefaction.
- They connect new water supply sources to the EFWS.

Two EFWS approaches were used to achieve the study objectives: expansion and enhancement of the existing conventional EFWS; and implementation of the Potable EFWS (PEFWS). The PEFWS is a high-pressure firefighting water supply network similar to the conventional EFWS. It can also function as part of the municipal water supply system during non-earthquake conditions and as an emergency water supply backbone under earthquake conditions when fire suppression is no longer needed.

The estimated firefighting water needs exceed the existing EFWS water supply. Additional water sources that were considered include freshwater storage, City potable water storage, and seawater. A combination of all three categories of supplies was used to meet the water supply deficit. The type of supply to use, and whether to implement conventional EFWS or PEFWS, was determined based on analysis of where the water is needed, where the supply is located, proximity to existing EFWS infrastructure, and pipe network hydraulics.





The performance assessment approach for the proposed EFWS captures the ability of the system to deliver water to meet demand targets geographically across San Francisco. The performance metric used in this study, the delivery capability, is defined as the percentage of the water demand met by the EFWS pipeline network. The delivery capability is calculated by dividing the flow delivered by the demand, reflecting the flow provided by the pipeline network.

The delivery capability of the improved system is shown on Figure ES-2. The improvements to the EFWS resulted in a high delivery capability across the majority of the areas in San Francisco. In 91 percent of the grids (excluding those without demands), a delivery capability of 90 percent or greater was achieved. In 7 percent of the grids, a delivery capability of 80 to 90 percent was achieved; the remaining 2 percent of the grids had a delivery capability of 70 to 80 percent. It should be noted that the delivery capability does not take into account the supply from other components of the EFWS, such cisterns, suction manifolds, and fireboats. These other sources of supply provide an additional layer of reliability and redundancy to the EFWS supply.

The costs for the proposed EFWS improvements are shown in Table ES-1. In 2021 dollars, the total cost is estimated to be approximately \$1.9 billion. With a 6-year or 14-year construction period, improvements would be completed in the years 2034 and 2046, respectively. Escalated costs for the 6- and 14-year construction period scenarios are estimated to be approximately \$2.9 billion and \$4.1 billion, respectively.

	Costs (\$M)		
Improvements	Unescalated (2021\$)	Escalated Completion in 2034	Escalated Completion in 2046
Pipelines	\$1,133	\$1,714	\$2,369
Pump Stations	\$609	\$922	\$1,274
Other Facility Improvements	\$205	\$310	\$429
Total	\$1,947	\$2,945	\$4,072

Table ES-1: EFWS Improvement Costs

This study assumes that San Francisco Fire Department (SFFD) resources increase commensurately with the growth in San Francisco's population. The pipelines and water supply sources provide water to the hydrants, but sufficient SFFD resources are needed to fully use the water provided by the improved EFWS.

Supplying seawater on the west side of San Francisco to the PEFWS is not recommended at this time, but, as requested by Supervisor Mar in November 2021, an option to provide this supply was assessed. The option consists of construction of an array of well stations along Ocean Beach and connecting pipelines to the PEFWS, as shown on Figure ES-3. The cost of providing seawater supply on the west side is approximately \$800 million more costly than this report's Recommended Alternative, but is not needed to meet any supply deficit of the proposed supply approach. Additionally, supplying seawater to the PEFWS would likely cause the system to lose its emergency water supply backbone function immediately after an earthquake.





Figure ES-3: Westside Seawater Supply Option



1. Introduction

1.1 Background

The Emergency Firefighting Water System (EFWS) is a high-pressure fire protection water supply and distribution system that was constructed following the 1906 earthquake. Construction of the original system, called the Auxiliary Water Supply System (AWSS) at the time, was completed in 1913. The system consists of pipelines, one storage reservoir, two tanks, cisterns, suction and fireboat manifolds, and two seawater pump stations. The EFWS provides high-pressure water supply for firefighting to protect people and property from risk of fire following a major earthquake.

The EFWS provides emergency firefighting supply to a significant portion of San Francisco, but the existing system does not serve the entire city. Pipelines currently do not extend west of 19th Avenue in the Sunset District or west of 12th Avenue in the Richmond. There are also no EFWS pipelines in the southern and central areas of San Francisco, south of Ocean Avenue, in the area surrounding McLaren Park, or in the area surrounding Mount Davidson and Glen Canyon Park. Although these areas do have EFWS cisterns, the cisterns alone are not able to meet the anticipated firefighting water demand in those areas.

The San Francisco Public Utilities Commission (SFPUC) is responsible for the operation and maintenance of the EFWS. SFPUC, in partnership with the San Francisco Fire Department and San Francisco Public Works, is actively improving and expanding the existing infrastructure for the EFWS (Figure 1-1). The Earthquake Safety and Emergency Response (ESER) Bonds approved by the voters in 2010, 2014, and 2020 provided San Francisco with funds to plan, design, and construct projects to enhance the reliability of the EFWS.

The 2010 and 2014 ESER Bonds included funds for EFWS projects, including improvements to core facilities, cisterns, and pipelines and tunnels. Funding in the 2020 ESER Bond focuses on improving EFWS capabilities in San Francisco's western neighborhoods. Planning studies—including the CS-199 Planning Support Services for AWSS (CS-199 Study) (AECOM 2014), CS-229 EFWS Spending Plan (Spending Plan) (AECOM 2015), and the Richmond District EFWS Options Analysis (Richmond EFWS Analysis) (AECOM 2018)—evaluated the performance of the EFWS and identified projects that improve and expand the citywide fire protection water supply and enhance its reliability. The CS-199 Study developed an evaluation strategy and long-term capital improvement recommendations for retrofit, improvement, and expansion of the EFWS. Probability-based models were used to calculate the estimated performance of the AWSS. Reliability was defined, for the study, as the percentage of the estimated firefighting water demand met following a 7.8 magnitude earthquake on the San Andreas Fault. Subsequent studies evaluated alternatives and selected pipeline alignments and water supply options to provide EFWS pipeline supply to the Sunset and Richmond Districts. These facilities are currently in various stages of planning, design, and construction, funded by the ESER 2020 Bond.

In October 2019, the San Francisco Board of Supervisors issued Resolution 422-19, responding to recommendations in the 2018-2019 City and County of San Francisco Civil Grand Jury Report "Act Now Before it Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System" (City 2019) to address needed improvements to the EFWS. The primary planning efforts pertaining to the EFWS pipeline and water supply infrastructure include:

- 1. Study adding salt-water pump stations to improve the redundancy of water sources, especially on the west side.
- 2. Complete a more detailed analysis of emergency firefighting water needs (including above-the-median needs) by neighborhood, and not just by Fire Response Area (FRA).
- 3. Develop a plan to ensure that San Francisco is well prepared to fight fires in all areas within its boundaries in the event of a 1906-magnitude (7.8) earthquake. The plan should include a high-pressure, multi-sourced, seismically safe emergency water system for those parts of San Francisco that do not currently have one.

This study, the EFWS 2050 Planning Study, addresses item 3 in the list above. It builds on prior EFWS studies and incorporates the results from prior reports completed in response to items 1 and 2.





1.2 Study Objectives

The objectives of this study are to:

- 1. Develop a plan to provide pipelines and water supply sources for emergency firefighting water supply to all parts of San Francisco.
- 2. Use results from the EFWS Seawater Supply Pre-Feasibility Study (Seawater Pre-Feasibility Study) (AECOM 2021) in the evaluation of citywide firefighting water demands and supply needs.
- 3. Use results from the Fire Following Earthquake Water Requirements Study (FFEWR Study) (Scawthorn 2021) in developing the EFWS infrastructure layout, including addressing demands that are higher than median-level, and performing analysis at finer geographical resolution than by FRA.

2. EFWS Components

2.1 Conventional EFWS

The conventional EFWS was originally built between 1908 and 1913. It consists of primary water supplies, consisting of one water storage reservoir (Twin Peaks) and two water storage tanks (Ashbury Heights and Jones Street). Additionally, the conventional EFWS has secondary water sources consisting of two seawater pump stations (Pumping Stations 1 and 2). Other system components include approximately 135 miles of piping, 3,800 valves, 1,600 hydrants, and 177 underground storage cisterns. The Clarendon EFWS Upgrade Project is in progress to provide supply from Summit Reservoir, protected by an air gap, to the EFWS. There are also 52 suction connections along the northeastern waterfront that allow fire engines to pump water from San Francisco Bay, and five manifolds that can be connected to fire boats to pump water from the San Francisco Bay. In the Richmond District, a pipeline connected to Stow Lake in Golden Gate Park supplies firefighting water by gravity to hydrants along Fulton Street. The Portable Water Supply System (PWSS) is an above-ground, large-diameter hose system that the SFFD can use to extend the reach of the EFWS pipelines. The conventional EFWS delivers water under high pressure solely for firefighting and is designed to withstand a large seismic event. The San Francisco Fire Department (SFFD) uses the conventional EFWS, and the SFPUC City Distribution Division (CDD) is responsible for its operations and maintenance. Recent improvements to the conventional EFWS have been performed to extend the pipelines and construct underground storage cisterns in areas of San Francisco that do not currently have service.

The conventional EFWS is divided into three pressure zones: the lower zone (blue-top hydrants), the upper zone (red-top hydrants), and the Twin Peaks zone (black-top hydrants). The lower zone consists of all hydrants on the eastern side of San Francisco at an elevation of 150 feet and below. The lower zone is normally served by the Jones Street tank (water elevation 369 feet). Both the pressure and the supply can be increased to the lower zone with the use of the Ashbury Heights Tank (water elevation 494 feet) and the Twin Peaks Reservoir (water elevation 758 feet). The upper zone consists primarily of hydrants on the eastern side of San Francisco that are between 150 feet and 494 feet in elevation. The upper zone is normally served by the Ashbury Heights tank. Pressure and supply to the upper zone can also be increased by the Twin Peaks Reservoir. The Twin Peaks zone consists of hydrants west of Twin Peaks above 494 feet and is supplied by Twin Peaks Reservoir. In general, depending on the operational scenario, the high pressure in the system provides high flow at a greater reach without using a pumper engine. If the system pressure is too high, a pressure-reducing valve may be secured to the hydrants before connecting the hose.

2.2 Potable EFWS

The potable EFWS (PEFWS) approach uses a dual-purpose pipeline that is independent from the existing conventional EFWS network. Under normal conditions, PEFWS pipelines would be used as potable water transmission mains. The PEFWS will use NSF61 certified pipeline, hydrant, and other appurtenance materials. NSF61 is a standard for products that come into contact with drinking water.

The system would also supply water to fight fires following an earthquake, and to fight greater alarm fires under nonseismic conditions. The PEFWS would be built to modern earthquake-resistant standards, including use of earthquake-resistant ductile iron pipe (ERDIP) or welded steel pipe (WSP). A critical benefit provided by the PEFWS pipeline network is its function as a seismically reliable emergency supply backbone system. When the system is no longer needed for fire suppression purposes, and while repairs are being made to the municipal water system, the PEFWS can be used to convey emergency water supply throughout its service area. The PEFWS will provide the same high-pressure fire suppression supply as the existing conventional EFWS.

The connections to the potable system would be limited in number (see schematic on Figure 2-1) to allow easier isolation from the potable system distribution pipe grid following an earthquake, thus precluding pressure loss due to breaks and leaks. The system will use seismically actuated control valves (in accordance with EFWS standards) on the limited connections to the potable system, allowing it to be automatically isolated following an earthquake. Once the PEFWS network is isolated from the municipal water system, the pipelines would be pressurized to a pressure similar to the conventional EFWS.

To ensure that sufficient water turnover occurs, the connections to the potable system will be located in coordination with the SFPUC Divisions that provide potable water supply. Isolation of the PEFWS does not cut off supply to any

municipal water system service areas, because all areas of the municipal system are also fed by other transmission mains.



Following the firefighting, the PEFWS pipeline would become a water supply backbone for post-earthquake emergency water supply. The PEFWS provides daily reliability for the potable water system, reliable water supply for post-earthquake fire protection, and emergency water supply. The PEFWS is currently being designed and constructed to serve the areas on the west side of San Francisco that do not have an emergency firefighting water supply.

Figure 2-1: Potable EFWS Schematic (Illustration by Charles Scawthorn) (Not To Scale)

3. Planning Methodology

3.1 System Demands

3.1.1 Demand Development

The foundations for the present study are the flow and distribution of water required for firefighting following an earthquake. These factors define the water demands, and the objectives of the EFWS are to supply the water required to meet these demands. A separate study performed for this project, the FFEWR Study (Scawthorn 2021), estimated these quantities using modeling based on decades of research and development that has been employed for fire departments, insurance companies, and other entities (Scawthorn et al. 2005). Central to the FFEWR Study is the recognition that the water and fire services are co-equal members of the fire suppression team, and that understanding this partnership is crucial to the estimation of water requirements for fire suppression; one service complements the other in fire suppression. This co-dependence greatly affects the total demand on the water system. If a rapid and adequate fire department response is met with adequate readily available water at the fireground, the fire is relatively small and the total water demand modest. If the fire department response is delayed or water is a long time coming to the fireground, the fire rapidly grows to multi-alarm (or even multi-block) proportions, and the amount of required water is orders of magnitude greater. For these reasons, the FFEWR Study necessarily modeled the performance of both the fire and water services.

The FFEWR Study began by defining two earthquake scenarios for analysis: (1) a Mw 7.9 event on the San Andreas fault like the 1906 event, and (2) a Mw 7 event on the Hayward fault in the East Bay, either of which would cause very strong ground motions in San Francisco. The Mw 7.9 San Andreas event is similar to the 1906 event and is generally the more damaging event—especially in the western portions of San Francisco, which are only a few miles from the fault. The Hayward event is considered more likely to occur in the near future. Ground motions and permanent ground deformations for these two events were defined probabilistically, taking into account local soil conditions and spatial correlation. These two events were then applied to San Francisco's built environment, considering both the current population of about 880,000 and projected growth to 2050, to estimate the number and pattern of ignitions.

The FFEWR Study then modeled the response by the SFFD, which will be very challenged by these events—SFFD's 44 on-duty engine companies will be confronted in the Mw 7.9 San Andreas event by an average of about 130 fires in the first 24 hours under (current conditions increasing to perhaps 160 fires by 2050 with growth of San Francisco), with mutual aid probably taking many hours to arrive. The FFEWR Study then modeled the availability of firefighting water at each fireground, considering all possible sources, including the potable water supply system; the existing high-pressure EFWS; SFFD's fireboats and Portable Water Supply System; the numerous special-purpose cisterns throughout San Francisco; and the bay, ocean, lakes, swimming pools, and other bodies of water. This availability of water was modeled considering the effects of earthquakes, under current and future conditions, for 21 different scenarios or cases of EFWS and SFFD improvements. This modeling considered weather, time of day, season, and many other variables in a probabilistic format, resulting in a time-varying probabilistic distribution of required firefighting water over the first 25 hours following the earthquake.

Results of the analysis of the 21 cases for current and future variations in EFWS and SFFD improvements showed that effective firefighting under current conditions is estimated to require flows of about 140,000 gallons per minute (gpm) (median; 75th percentile is 200,000+ gpm) after the first few hours, equivalent to a total volume of about 200+ million gallons (MG) in the first 24 hours after an earthquake. Results also showed that future water requirements can remain about the same, or be much larger, depending on the improvements made to the EFWS and SFFD.

As noted above, the FFEWR Study is the basis for this EFWS 2050 Planning Study report. As discussed below, Case D was selected from the 21 cases in the FFEWR Study, and its water requirements for the year 2050 are employed in much of the remainder of this report. Case D's results are in the form of a probability distribution of the required water at any moment following the earthquake. Prudence dictates that the EFWS design be based on some upper fractile of the probability distribution of required water. That is, if the median value were to be employed, then by definition the water required for firefighting would exceed the EFWS design basis 50 percent of the time, which is clearly not satisfactory. On the other hand, if for example the 99th percentile were used as the design basis, the EFWS design basis would be relatively "safe" (adequate firefighting water 99 percent of the time) but the cost of the

system would be prohibitive. Based on a review of the probability distribution and experience in the performance of water and fire systems in previous earthquakes, the 75th percentile was employed as an initial design objective for EFWS planning, to be examined further and refined as discussed below.

3.1.2 Selection of Demand Target

The FFEWR Study provided 21 demand cases, representing a range of system conditions and resource scenarios. The demand cases and their respective input parameters were reviewed and narrowed down to the four cases shown in Table 3-1, which capture the applicable conditions for this study. Of the four cases, the input parameters for Case D are the most appropriate to the project objectives. The conservative parameters included in Case D were selected to provide a more robust demand set, which results in a water system that is less likely to be impacted by variations in future conditions. The input parameters are described as follows:

- Development Decade This parameter denotes the year of projected City Growth reflected in the demand case. Case D assumes City Growth conditions for 2050, consistent with the planning horizon of this study.
- System Damage: This parameter indicates whether earthquake damage to EFWS pipelines is considered. Given that this study is intended to evaluate post-earthquake fire conditions, all cases in Table 3-1 take into account damage to the EFWS pipelines.
- System Operational Efficiency: This parameter reflects system response capability and response time to assess damage and implement mitigation measures. A high efficiency results in more water getting to the fireground, and therefore generally results in higher water demands on the system.
- System Improvements: This parameter denotes whether EFWS improvements are considered. Cases with "No" use the existing (2020) pipe network and water sources; cases that use "Yes," including Case D, consider the proposed improvements identified in this study.
- SFFD Resources: This parameter reflects whether or not SFFD resources, specifically fire engines and hose tenders, increase in proportion to population growth. Case D assumes that SFFD fire engines will be added as the population of San Francisco grows. This assumption is conservative; it results in water system planning that is consistent with growth in SFFD resources, but is not impacted if resources do not increase as anticipated. The supply capacity will be in place regardless of the rate of growth in resources.
- City Growth: "Current" indicates that population and building inventory growth are not considered in the demand case, while "Future" indicates that growth corresponding to the development decade is included in the analysis. Case D includes "Future" conditions to plan the EFWS for the 2050 planning horizon.

Case	Development Decade	System Damage	System Operational Efficiency	System Improvements	SFFD Resources	City Growth	75th Percentile Demand (gpm)
А	2020	Damage	Low	No	Current	Current	240,000
В	2050	Damage	Low	No	Current	Future	241,000
С	2050	Damage	Low	Yes	Current	Future	240,000
D	2050	Damage	High	Yes	Additional	Future	255,000

Table 3-1: Firefighting Water Demand Cases

Notes:

gpm = gallons per minute

SFFD = San Francisco Fire Department

Figure 3-1 shows the distribution of demand values for demand Case D. As a matter of prudent planning for critical infrastructure, a percentile range above the median (50th percentile), from 65th to 85th percentile, was evaluated for this study. Demand values below this range do not provide the level of assurance that the system can deliver the water required to fight fires. Above this range, in excess of the 85th percentile, the graph shows that demands increase exponentially; improvement costs would be expected to follow accordingly, with diminishing returns as the percentile increases. For this study, the midpoint of the range, at the 75th percentile, was selected as the demand target. As shown in Table 3-1, this equates to 255,000 gpm.



Figure 3-1: 75th Percentile for Demand Case D

The FFEWR Study post-earthquake firefighting demand modeling was based on a number of seismic, fire response, and water system simulation parameters over time. Figure 3-2 shows the 75th percentile water demand for Demand Case D over the initial 25 hours after an earthquake occurs. The graph shows that firefighting water requirements follow an increasing trend after the earthquake occurs, reaches a maximum after several hours, and remain at that level through at least the 25th hour. For this study, the maximum level, at the 25th hour, has been used for design of the EFWS. It is believed to be a reasonable estimate of citywide demands to identify water supply sources and pipelines to convey the water.



Figure 3-2: 75th Percentile Water Demand Following Earthquake Occurrence

3.2 Hydraulic Analysis

This study uses EPANET as the hydraulic modeling engine to design and evaluate the performance of the EFWS pipe network. EPANET is a water system hydraulic modeling software application developed by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. It is an open source application that is widely used throughout the water industry to analyze pipe networks similar to the EFWS.

The EPANET application was implemented on this project using QuakeNet, a software developed by San Francisco Public Works to analyze the seismic performance of the EFWS. QuakeNet uses pipeline earthquake damage modeling methodologies developed by T. O'Rourke and colleagues at Cornell University to simulate hydraulic networks under damaged states. The methodologies, from the Graphical Iterative Response Analysis of Flow Following Earthquakes (GIRAFFE) tool, estimate pipe damage based on ground motion data and pipe fragility equations. The estimated pipe leaks and breaks are then modeled using EPANET to simulate water loss from the system due to the damaged pipes. For this study, the damage estimation methodology was updated based on recent information in the paper "Influence of Diameter on Seismic Response of Buried Segmented Pipelines" (O'Rourke and Vargas-Londono 2018). The updated approach improves pipe leak and break estimation by considering the pipe diameter.

To capture the uncertainty associated with the seismic performance of the EFWS pipe network, a Monte Carlo analysis was used to model system damage during an earthquake. Input data to each Monte Carlo simulation, including demand, pipe network, pipe fragility, and ground motions, were used to develop the EFWS system damage states modeled by the hydraulic model; 1,000 simulations were run to capture the range of potential outcomes resulting from the variability.

The results from the hydraulic modeling were used to evaluate the reliability of the EFWS after a major earthquake, using a probabilistic approach. The results from the 1,000 Monte Carlo simulations provide the system performance data set analyzed and presented in Section 5.

3.3 Improvements Development Approach

Development of the proposed system configuration involved the following primary steps:

- 1. Develop the pipeline alignments to provide coverage to areas not served by the EFWS.
- 2. Identify water supply sources to meet the required firefighting demands.
- 3. Analyze the ability of system hydraulics to convey water from the supply sources to demand needs throughout the system.

3.3.1 Pipeline Coverage

The map of the existing conventional EFWS pipelines shown on Figure 1-1 readily shows those areas of San Francisco that are not served by EFWS pipelines. Although there are cisterns in many of those areas, this study focuses—based on input from project stakeholders, including SFFD—on improvements to supply water via EFWS pipelines. Using the pipeline supply to meet demand ensures the ability to provide high flow rates for sustained durations. Although cisterns provide a distributed network of stored water in many locations, the typical cistern storage of 60,000 gallons would sustain pumping at a rate of 1,500 gpm for only approximately 40 minutes. Fire following a major earthquake would be expected to last multiple hours.

Extension of the EFWS into new areas has been analyzed for decades, and many prior studies and concepts have been developed over time. Some examples of prior studies include the CS-199 Study (AECOM 2014), Spending Plan (AECOM 2015), Richmond District EFWS Analysis (AECOM 2018), PEFWS Pipeline Alternatives Analysis Report (AECOM 2020a), and the PEFWS Pipeline Conceptual Engineering Report (AECOM 2020b). Concepts from these prior studies, along with ideas from project team members and technical advisors, were reviewed and consolidated.

The suite of pipeline improvements was presented and discussed with project stakeholders, including the SFFD, SFPUC Infrastructure, and CDD. Some pipeline improvements, such as the Westside PEFWS, have been vigorously reviewed and refined in prior studies and are currently in the project design and construction stages. Solutions for the

remaining gaps in coverage were developed and reviewed with stakeholders during brainstorming sessions. The final design of the pipeline network seeks to extend pipeline coverage into all areas of San Francisco, using loop configurations. Loop configurations increase hydraulic performance by conveying water through dual pathways. They also increase seismic reliability by providing two ways to get water to any specific point in the system.

Once pipeline alignments were developed to provide coverage to new areas, a determination was made whether to connect to the pipes to the conventional EFWS or to the PEFWS. This was based on the following considerations:

- Proximity to conventional EFWS or currently planned PEFWS pipelines
- Capacity of connecting infrastructure
- Need and opportunities to concurrently provide an emergency water supply backbone pipeline

On the west side of San Francisco, the evaluation of alternatives and selection of PEFWS as the preferred approach has been performed in several studies, as described above. In other areas, such as the southern area of San Francisco, implementation of PEFWS with separate supply sources reduces the water demand load on the conventional EFWS. A significant portion of the existing conventional EFWS is constructed of 10- and 12-inch-diameter pipelines, which cause hydraulic constraints under high flows. Adding new service areas to the conventional EFWS would increase demands and flows through the pipelines. The additional flows would result in higher head losses in the pipes and hydraulically inefficient conveyance to the new service areas. New pipelines in areas already within the conventional EFWS service area are connected to that system for efficiency.

3.3.2 Water Sources

An analysis of the citywide demands and existing EFWS supplies was performed to determine the water supply deficit and the required additional supplies. As described later in Section 4.3, there is a significant deficit between the target demand and the existing supplies. The water supply sources available immediately after an earthquake that were considered include stored water supplies in San Francisco, including potable reservoirs and freshwater lakes, as well as seawater from San Francisco Bay and the Pacific Ocean.

The feasible new water supply sources were connected through pipelines to the conventional EFWS and PEFWS. The pipelines and their connection points to the system were determined based on the geographic distribution of the demands (i.e. where the water was needed), system hydraulics, and water source location and elevation in relation to the pressure zone boundaries.

3.3.3 System Hydraulics

The hydraulics of the system were analyzed after the coverage pipelines were configured, and the supply sources were identified. The purpose of the analysis was to identify and mitigate hydraulic constraints that limited the flow of water from the source to where it is needed to fight fires. The hydraulic model was used to determine where issues such as excessive head losses occur in the system due to inadequately sized pipes. In areas of high liquefaction susceptibility, pipeline breaks or closed isolation valves can impede flow. The model was also used to identify areas in the system where pipe loops can be incorporated to improve hydraulic efficiency and reliability.

4. System Improvements

This section describes the improvements to the EFWS needed to meet the demand targets. The improvements are grouped into the following categories:

- Conventional EFWS Pipeline Improvements
- PEFWS Pipeline Improvements
- Water Supply Sources (including required pump station facilities)
- Other EFWS Improvements

The improvements, shown on Figure 4-1, are discussed individually by category in this section.

Although pipeline improvements are discussed in this section by their primary function, such as extending water supply coverage or increasing conveyance capacity, they have multi-purpose benefits due to the systemic nature of pipeline networks. New pipelines will have hydrants along their alignment and will therefore provide coverage, and they all provide conveyance capacity. All new PEFWS pipelines will provide potable seismic backbone benefits in addition to their expansion of firefighting water supply coverage. Pipeline alignments for the proposed improvements are planning level, and are expected to be refined during subsequent phases of engineering planning and design. The diameters of new pipelines are generally 24 inches, unless larger diameters are required by hydraulics, such as pipelines that connect water sources to the system. Because construction of EFWS pipelines on every block is not feasible, the pipeline configurations work in conjunction with deployment of the PWSS to extend the reach of EFWS hydrants to defend those areas between pipelines.

4.1 Conventional EFWS Pipeline Improvements

4.1.1 Connections to Additional Water Supply Sources

Additional water supply sources will be required to meet firefighting water demands. New pipelines must be constructed to connect the water supplies to the EFWS, as shown on Figure 4-2. The pipelines would serve a dual purpose: not only would they connect the source to the system, but because they would have hydrants along their alignment, they would also expand the coverage area of the system. The supply connection pipelines are generally larger in diameter because they convey flow from the source to the network, at which point the flow will split and water will be conveyed in multiple directions.

- The pipeline connecting Sutro Reservoir to the conventional EFWS runs from the reservoir and through the Inner Sunset District. Portions of the existing system, which connect this pipeline to the upper zone, will require upsizing, as described later in Section 4.1.4.
- To connect Stanford Heights Reservoir to the Ashbury Zone, a pipeline would run through the Miraloma Area along O'Shaughnessy Boulevard and connect to the conventional EFWS just west of Interstate 280.
- The pipeline that conveys supply from College Hill Reservoir extends east through the Bernal Heights District and connects to the conventional EFWS, in the lower zone, just east of U.S. Highway 101 (US 101).
- University Mound Reservoir would supply water to both the conventional EFWS and PEFWS. Supply to the conventional EFWS would be through a pipeline running along Bacon Street and Bayshore Boulevard, connecting to the conventional EFWS near the Interstate 280/US 101 interchange.
- For the purposes of this study, the additional seawater supply to the conventional EFWS on the eastern side of San Francisco was assumed to be adjacent to San Francisco Bay near the end of 22nd Street. The supply pipeline runs along 22nd Street and connects to the conventional EFWS at 3rd Street.

Figure 4-1: Recommended EFWS Improvements







4.1.2 Infirm Area Backbone Pipelines

Ten zones in San Francisco, shown on Figure 4-3, have been identified as infirm in previous studies. These are areas that may be subject to liquefaction and will likely cause damage to the AWSS piping during an earthquake. The current strategy, developed in the 1980s and based on experience from prior earthquakes, is to isolate the piping in the infirm areas to reduce leakage and prevent the draining of system supply storage. Isolation is achieved by keeping some valves closed and by providing seismically triggered valves that automatically isolate these areas following an earthquake.

The infirm area isolation valves would not be reopened until damaged pipes are repaired, or until it could be confirmed that pipe damage would not result in the draining of system storage. It may take a significant amount of time to reopen the valves. In the interim, those areas served by the isolated pipes would not have EFWS supply to fight fires. Therefore, five groups of infirm area backbone pipes, constructed of ERDIP, have been identified to provide supply to those areas immediately after an earthquake. Because of their proximity, some of the infirm area backbone pipes address multiple infirm areas.

The infirm area backbone pipes would connect to EFWS outside of the infirm area boundaries and therefore have a much higher likelihood of serving as a viable conduit to the infirm areas. The backbone pipe isolation valves would remain open under normal conditions and would not be seismically triggered, so that water supply would be available immediately after the earthquake. To improve system hydraulic connectivity, some additional pipe replacements at select boundaries and valving connections near the infirm areas have also been identified. To maximize the benefits of the infirm area backbones, current geotechnical information on liquefaction zones should be incorporated during the detailed design phase of the infirm backbone pipelines. Figure 4-3 shows the infirm areas, liquefaction zones, and backbone pipeline improvements.

4.1.3 Extension Into Areas Without Coverage

Park Merced/Ingleside

The Park Merced and Ingleside pipeline extensions would provide firefighting water to the Park Merced, Merced Heights, and Ingleside areas, which are not currently served by EFWS pipelines. In addition, these pipelines would connect to the conventional EFWS along Ocean Avenue and therefore convey additional supply from Lake Merced Pump Station to the conventional EFWS.

Dogpatch

Additional seawater supply to the conventional EFWS has been assumed to be located in the area adjacent to San Francisco Bay, at the foot of 22nd Street. There would be additional pipes in this area to extend water supply and to also improve conveyance of the new supply source.

Hunters Point

Currently, there are no EFWS pipelines that provide firefighting water supply to the Hunters Point area. New pipes are proposed to provide service to the area through two connections to the existing EFWS: on Evans Avenue and on Revere Avenue. The pipes would form a hydraulic loop through the area to improve conveyance capacity and reliability.

Candlestick Point

Similarly, although EFWS pipe was constructed in the vicinity of Candlestick Point, there are currently no pipelines providing firefighting service directly in the area. A multi-loop network through the area would provide service and connect to the EFWS at three locations: Carroll Avenue, Gilman Avenue, and 3rd Street.

Figure 4-3: Infirm Areas and Backbone Pipelines







4.1.4 Conveyance Capacity Improvements

Earlier portions of the EFWS were constructed using pipes of a smaller diameter than would be used today, given the future estimated firefighting flow requirements. As shown on Figure 4-5, approximately 50 percent of the existing pipelines are 10 to 12 inches in diameter, 40 percent are 14 to 16 inches in diameter, and 10 percent are 18 to 20 inches in diameter. Where the smaller-diameter pipes are close together, they create a network that helps mitigate the limited capacity. However, where the small-diameter pipes are sparsely spaced, significant hydraulic restrictions can occur and the system can be challenged in delivering the required flow at the required pressure.

Where a water supply source is connected to the system, larger-diameter pipelines are generally required to accommodate the large flow entering the system; flows are high until they split and flow to the various service areas. Hydraulic restrictions in the existing system occur in the vicinity of new supply sources at several locations. Pipeline improvements are proposed to improve conveyance capacity, including construction of additional pipes or increasing the size of existing pipes. Figure 4-6 shows the pipeline improvements proposed to increase conveyance capacity of the conventional EFWS.

Marina District

In the Marina District and extending down toward Russian Hill, the conventional EFWS consists mainly of 12- and 14-inch-diameter pipes. In the vicinity of the existing Pump Station No. 2, the small pipe diameters result in high head losses. Those pipes that are nearer to the source of supply have a greater impact on system hydraulics because they convey higher flows, before the pipes branch out and distribute flow in multiple directions. Under the 2050 demand targets, these pipelines will convey even higher flows and will require upgrades to increase their size.

Sutro

Under improved system conditions, pipes that run through the Inner Sunset, Cole Valley, and Haight-Ashbury would convey water from Sutro Reservoir to the conventional EFWS. These would consist of 12-, 14-, and 18-inch-diameter pipes. Sutro reservoir would supply approximately 30,000 gpm to the conventional EFWS. The existing pipes are inadequately sized for the new flows and would result in high friction losses. Construction of larger-diameter pipe and some new pipe is needed to address the hydraulic constraints of the smaller-diameter pipes and convey flow from Sutro to the rest of the system more efficiently.

Noe Valley

The existing pipeline that traverses Noe Valley provides north-south conveyance and connection between two areas of the conventional EFWS upper zone. This pipeline consists of 12-inch and 16-inch pipe. With higher flows under 2050 target demand conditions, greater conveyance capacity is needed, particularly because flow from Stanford Heights Reservoir needs to be conveyed to other parts of the upper zone.

Potrero/SOMA

The pipelines in the Potrero/SOMA area provide service to the Potrero Hill area, as well as additional conveyance capacity from east to west through the Potrero Hill area and south to north through Potrero Hill and SOMA. Large transmission capacity is either lacking north to the SOMA area, or constrained by smaller-diameter 12-inch pipes. This group of pipes increase capacity to convey supply from the east seawater pump station to other parts of the conventional EFWS and provides additional hydrants along Kansas Street.

Bernal Heights

A new pipeline in Bernal Heights north of Bernal Heights Park is needed to complete a hydraulic loop, where the pressure zone boundary along Mission Street limits hydraulic circulation through the area. This loop would provide significant hydraulic improvement in an area of the pipe network consisting almost exclusively of smaller 12-inchdiameter pipes. In addition, two potable reservoir supplies, College Hill Reservoir and University Mound Reservoir, would connect to the conventional EFWS near the eastern end of the new pipeline in Bernal Heights. This pipeline would provide additional flow paths to convey the supply from these reservoirs to the other areas of the lower zone. The pipeline through Bernal Heights would also improve coverage in this area.

Figure 4-5: Diameters of Existing EFWS Pipes



Figure 4-6: Pipeline Improvements to Increase Conveyance Capacity



An additional pipeline running north-south along Bayshore Boulevard would increase the size of the existing pipeline along this alignment and provide an additional connection to the pipes to the north.

Silver Terrace

The pipeline through the Silver Terrace area would increase conveyance capacity and also provide additional coverage in the area. The areas in the southeastern corner of San Francisco, including Bayview, Hunters Point, and Candlestick Point, are supplied by two smaller 12-inch-diameter pipelines, one of which runs through a liquefaction zone. The pipeline through the Silver Terrace area would provide an additional conduit to the areas in the southeast.

Mission Bay

A short segment of pipe in the Mission Bay area near Mission Creek would be added to the pipe network in the area to complete a hydraulic loop. This addresses a dead end created by the loss of flow continuity across Mission Creek at 4th Street.

4.2 PEFWS Pipeline Improvements

4.2.1 Westside

Although the Sunset and Outer Richmond Districts are served by cisterns, some of which were recently constructed under the 2010 ESER bond, they are not served by EFWS pipelines. The Westside component of the PEFWS, shown on Figure 4-7, provides pipeline supply to these areas. In addition, because these pipes are a part of the PEFWS network, they will also serve as a seismically reliable emergency supply backbone. Phase 1 of the Westside has been funded by the 2020 ESER Bond, and portions of the project are currently in design and construction. The Westside PEFWS consists of three pipeline loops to increase hydraulic performance and enhance the reliability of the network. The pipeline reach that connects Lake Merced to the southernmost loop on Ulloa Street provides supply, from Lake Merced or the Regional Water Pipelines, to the Westside. The southernmost loop serves the southern and central areas of the Sunset. Its western alignment is adjacent to Sunset Reservoir, where supply from that reservoir and its pump station connect to the system.

The central loop of this system provides service to the northern Sunset District and the southern portion of the Outer Richmond. This loop crosses Golden Gate Park at two locations, providing critical park crossings for both firefighting and post-earthquake emergency supply. The northern loop of the Westside PEFWS serves the majority of the Outer Richmond District.

4.2.2 Richmond Extension

Although conventional EFWS serves portions of the Inner Richmond District east of Park Presidio, the majority of the pipelines are 12 inches in diameter. The Richmond Extension of the PEFWS would provide supply to the Inner Richmond through an eastern extension of the PEFWS pipe network. As shown on Figure 4-8, the extension would overlay and provide coverage to areas between the existing conventional EFWS pipelines.

In addition, the Richmond Extension would include three turnouts along its northern alignment from which supply to the Presidio of San Francisco could be taken and distributed throughout the Presidio grounds.

4.2.3 Portola Loop

The existing pipelines that surround the central areas of San Francisco near Mount Davidson and Glen Canyon are in some cases more than a mile away. These distances, combined with the elevation and difficult street navigation, result in challenges to get firefighting water supply to these areas. The Portola Loop component of the PEFWS, shown on Figure 4-9, would help mitigate these challenges by adding a pipeline loop in this central area, providing high-pressure supply to better serve the higher elevations. The loop would be supplied through two connections to the PEFWS in the east and south.

Figure 4-7: Westside PEFWS Pipelines



Figure 4-8: Richmond Extension Pipelines



Figure 4-9: Portola Loop Pipelines



If needed, additional pressure could be provided to the areas served by the Portola Loop through booster pump stations. The loop would be isolated from rest of the system to protect it from excessive pressure, and booster pump stations on the supply pipeline on the southern and eastern sides of the loop would provide additional pressure.

4.2.4 Southern Area

Significant portions of the southern areas of San Francisco are not currently served by EFWS pipelines. Two proposed conventional EFWS pipelines address the Bernal Heights area. A network of PEFWS pipelines, referred to in this study as the PEFWS Southern Area, would provide coverage to the unaddressed areas in the south. The pipelines that comprise the Southern Area component of the PEFWS are shown on Figure 4-10.

The Southern Area network was developed to provide firefighting supply to the general areas of the Excelsior, Visitacion Valley, Sunnydale, Crocker Amazon, Outer Mission, and Ocean View. The pipeline alignments are laid out to distribute coverage in the areas between existing pipelines and the McLaren Park boundary, focusing on the developed areas in the southern part of San Francisco. Water supply to the Southern Area pipelines would be provided on the west from Lake Merced and on the east from University Mound Reservoir. The dual supply sources and loop configuration would result in increased hydraulic efficiency and delivery reliability.

The Southern Area pipelines were developed to work in conjunction with the Portola Loop to provide three interconnected hydraulic loops. The Portola Loop and Southern Area comprise the northern and southern loops, respectively. The central loop is formed by the boundaries and pipelines that connect the two loops. All three loops would share dual supplies from University Mound Reservoir on the east and Lake Merced/Regional Water supplies on the west.

4.3 Water Supply Sources

4.3.1 Water Supply Analysis

The demand target for this study, 255,000 gpm on a citywide basis, is much higher than the capacity of existing EFWS supply facilities, and significant additional water sources are needed. A water supply analysis was performed to determine where demands were located geographically, identify the new sources, and develop the connections to the pipeline network in a hydraulically efficient manner.

Based on the service areas of the PEFWS and conventional EFWS pipe networks, approximately 90,000 gpm of firefighting demand is served on the PEFWS, and the remaining 165,000 gpm is served from the conventional EFWS system. New water sources available immediately after an earthquake include stored water supplies in San Francisco, including potable reservoirs and freshwater lakes, as well as seawater from San Francisco Bay and the Pacific Ocean.

The potable reservoirs considered include Sunset, University Mound, Sutro, College Hill, and Stanford Heights. These represent the largest potable reservoirs in San Francisco and have storage volumes greater than 10 MG, sufficient to sustain at least 16 hours under a withdrawal rate of 10,000 gpm. Summit Reservoir, another large potable reservoir, is currently being connected to the conventional EFWS via pipeline and air gap, so it is considered an existing supply in this study. Because all of the above-mentioned reservoirs store potable water, an air gap would be required between the reservoir and the connection to the conventional EFWS.

As shown on Figure 4-11, Sunset Reservoir is on the west side of San Francisco, in the PEFWS service area, and is most effectively used as a water source for that system. The Sutro, Stanford Heights, and College Hill Reservoirs are more centrally located and are adjacent to both PEFWS and conventional EFWS systems. Because of the greater supply need on the eastern side of San Francisco, it was determined that these sources should be connected to the conventional EFWS. Similarly, University Mound is on the border between PEFWS and the conventional EFWS. It is proposed that this reservoir serve both the PEFWS and the conventional EFWS. By connecting to the Southern Area of PEFWS, University Mound increase the supply reliability to the Southern Area and the Portola Loop. Those pipelines would have supply from the west via Lake Merced as well as supply from the east from University Mound.

Figure 4-10: Southern Area Pipelines



Figure 4-11: Conventional EFWS and PEFWS Water Supply Sources



The freshwater lakes considered include Lake Merced, Laguna Honda, and several lakes in Golden Gate Park and McLaren Park. As with the potable reservoirs, the larger lakes were given higher consideration because of their ability to provide high flows for longer durations. Lake Merced, Laguna Honda, and Stow Lake were considered. Lake Merced, in the southwestern corner of San Francisco, has an estimated storage of 1.7 billion gallons, providing an essentially unlimited supply for firefighting. Because it is a designated emergency water supply for San Francisco, it is also consistent with the emergency potable backbone pipeline function of the PEFWS. Lake Merced is ideally situated to supply the PEFWS, providing water to the north for the Westside and Richmond Extension and to the east to the Southern Area and Portola Loop. Laguna Honda, near the Forest Hill area, stores approximately 40 MG of freshwater. Prior initial investigations regarding the feasibility of siting an intake and pump station at the Laguna Honda site identified challenges with site access and the steep topography surrounding the lake. Stow Lake, in Golden Gate Park, is currently designated as an emergency firefighting supply. It is connected to a pipeline and hydrants along Fulton Street on the northern side of the park.

A study prepared for the SFPUC in June 2021, the Seawater Pre-Feasibility Study (AECOM 2021), evaluated seawater supply from both the Pacific Ocean and San Francisco Bay. The Seawater Pre-Feasibility Study determined that supply from either water body was feasible, with slant wells being more likely to be feasible on the Pacific Ocean and open water intakes on San Francisco Bay. This 2050 Planning Study considered both options. Based on the evaluation of demands and available supplies, it was determined that the PEFWS would have adequate supply from Lake Merced, Sunset Reservoir, and University Mound Reservoir to meet demands. However, the conventional EFWS would have a supply deficit of approximately 60,000 gpm after the existing and new water sources above were accounted for. Therefore, approximately 60,000 gpm of additional seawater supply would be needed on the conventional EFWS. Table 4-1 shows water supply sources identified for the PEFWS and conventional EFWS as a result of the water supply analysis.

	Supply Sources	Flow (gpm)	Totals (gpm)
Conventional EFWS	University Mound Reservoir	29,000	
	College Hill Reservoir	13,000	
	Stanford Heights Reservoir	11,000	
	Sutro Reservoir	29,000	
	Summit Reservoir	10,000	
	Lake Merced	7,000	210,000
	Twin Peaks	7,000	
	Pump Station 1	19,000	
	Pump Station 2*	55,000	
	East Seawater Pump Station(s)	30,000	
Potable EFWS	Lake Merced	43,000	
	Sunset Reservoir	33,000	89,000
	University Mound Reservoir	13,000	
Total			299,000

Table 4-1: Water Demands and Supply Analysis

Notes:

* Expansion of Pump Station 2 Capacity, or additional seawater pump station

gpm = gallons per minute

EFWS = Emergency Firefighting Water System

Based on the flows shown in Table 4-1, it is estimated that approximately 190 million gallons of water from potable storage reservoirs would be used for firefighting during the first 24 hours. The total potable water storage capacity in San Francisco is approximately 400 million gallons. Therefore, over 50 percent of the potable water storage within San Francisco will remain available after the initial 24 hours of firefighting following an earthquake. This analysis of remaining storage uses the maximum demand occurring at the 25th hour as a conservative assumption for firefighting water use.

4.3.2 Lake Merced

Lake Merced is a freshwater lake in the southwestern corner of San Francisco. The SFPUC manages the lake for uses including emergency water supply, habitat for birds, and recreation. Lake Merced has a significant storage capacity, estimated at approximately 1.7 billion gallons.

Lake Merced is proposed as a water source for both the PEFWS and conventional EFWS. From the intake location at the Lake Merced Pump Station, supply would flow in three directions. Supply north to the Westside and Richmond Extension portions of the PEFWS would be conveyed through a pipeline along Lake Merced, connecting to the southern end of the Westside along Ulloa Street. Supply in the southern direction to the Southern Area and Portola Loop portions of the PEFWS would be conveyed via a pipeline along Brotherhood Way. Supply in the eastward direction would provide water to the conventional EFWS through the Park Merced and Ingleside pipelines. Intake pumping and pressure boosting would be achieved through a combination of existing and new pumps at the Lake Merced Pump Station and Merced Manor.

Lake Merced greatly enhances the water supply on the west side of San Francisco. It is a logical and prudent source of supply for the PEFWS due to its significant storage, designation as an emergency water supply, and strategic location within the PEFWS and conventional EFWS pipe network. With approximately 1.7 billion gallons of water storage, Lake Merced can sustain well over 2 weeks of supply at a continuous pumping rate of 60,000 gpm. This represents a significant duration of firefighting supply following an earthquake. It is unlikely that fires in San Francisco would continue for two weeks. Analysis of the water demands and supplies of the PEFWS and conventional EFWS systems indicate that the flow provided by Lake Merced would be adequate. Because the water in Lake Merced is managed as an emergency water supply, its use in the PEFWS would maintain the system as a seismically reliable emergency water system, subject to a boil water order.

Lake Merced and the associated existing and new infrastructure are strategically located to connect the supply for emergency firefighting use. From its location in the southwestern corner of San Francisco, it can easily be connected to supply the new PEFWS pipe networks along the western and southern areas of the city. Common pumping infrastructure can also be used to leverage Regional Water System supplies, as described later in this section. During the implementation phase for the Lake Merced supply, geotechnical investigations of embankments that surround Lake Merced and the facilities that would be used to supply the EFWS may be warranted.

4.3.3 Seawater

Based on an analysis of firefighting demands, existing supplies, and available new supplies throughout San Francisco, it is estimated that an additional 60,000 gpm of seawater supply is needed on the eastern side of San Francisco, in the area served by the conventional EFWS. This additional supply could be implemented in a number of ways, such as one or more new consolidated seawater pumping stations, new distributed pump stations, upgrades to existing seawater Pump Stations 1 and 2, or combinations of these approaches. The Seawater Pre-Feasibility Study (AECOM 2021) identified considerations and conceptual costs for implementing seawater on the bay side of San Francisco. The specific approach for meeting the additional 60,000 gpm and the locations of the associated infrastructure needed will require significant further evaluation.

For the purposes of this study, the additional seawater to the system has been analyzed as a consolidated pump station on the eastern shore of San Francisco near 22nd Street and a second seawater source on the northern shore, near the existing Pump Station 2.

4.3.4 In-City Potable Reservoirs

Sunset Reservoir

Sunset Reservoir is a 176 MG potable reservoir on the west side of San Francisco. The reservoir is composed of two connected basins, the North Basin and the South Basin, with capacities of 89 MG and 87 MG, respectively. The North Basin was constructed in 1938 and was seismically upgraded in 2010, and the South Basin was constructed in 1960. A project in the 10-year Capital Improvement Program is planned to implement seismic improvement recommendations to the South Basin identified in recent studies. Sunset Reservoir is supplied by the regional water system from two pipelines, the 54-inch San Andreas Pipeline (SAPL) No. 2 and the 60-inch Sunset Supply Pipeline (SSPL), via pumping from the Lake Merced Pump Station.

Sunset Reservoir would supply water to the PEFWS through a connection to the Westside portion. A pump station with a capacity of approximately 30,000 gpm would increase the water pressure as it is supplied to the PEFWS pipe network.

University Mound Reservoir

The University Mound Reservoir is a 140 MG potable reservoir in the southeastern area of San Francisco. The reservoir has two basins, the North Basin and the South Basin, that were constructed in 1885 and 1937, respectively. In 2011, the North Basin underwent a general upgrade that included a seismic retrofit. A project in the 10-year Capital Improvement Program is planned to implement seismic improvement recommendations to the South Basin identified in recent studies. This reservoir receives water from the Regional Water System through Crystal Springs Pipeline (CSPL) No. 1 (44-inch) and No. 2 (54 to 60-inch).

University Mound Reservoir would supply water to both the conventional EFWS and PEFWS. A pump station would be required to increase pressure. This pump station, with a total capacity of approximately 40,000 gpm, would have independent pumping capability to supply both the conventional EFWS and PEFWS. An air gap between the reservoir and the connection to the conventional EFWS would be required.

Sutro Reservoir

Sutro Reservoir is centrally located in San Francisco, near Twin Peaks. It is a potable reservoir with a storage capacity of 30 MG and receives its supply from the Regional Water System via the Lake Merced or Central Pump Station. Sutro Reservoir supplies water to the conventional EFWS through connecting pipelines in the Inner Sunset. A pump station with a capacity of approximately 30,000 gpm would increase the pressure of the supply from Sutro Reservoir. An air gap would be required between the reservoir and the connection point to the conventional EFWS.

Stanford Heights Reservoir

Stanford Heights Reservoir is a 12 MG potable reservoir near Mount Davidson. The reservoir would provide approximately 11,000 gpm of supply to the conventional EFWS and would connect to the Upper Pressure Zone in the Glen Park Area. Because its elevation of 618 feet is higher than that of the Upper Zone, Stanford Heights could supply the zone by gravity, and a pump station is not required. However, because the reservoir serves the potable distribution system under normal conditions, an air gap would be required between the reservoir and the connection to the conventional EFWS.

College Hill Reservoir

College Hill Reservoir is a 13.5 MG potable reservoir in the Bernal Heights area. The reservoir would provide approximately 7,000 gpm of supply to the conventional EFWS and would connect to the Lower Pressure Zone near the US 101 and Interstate 280 interchange. A pump station would be needed to increase pressure prior to connecting to the Lower Zone. An air gap would be required between the reservoir and the connection to the conventional EFWS.

4.3.5 Regional Water System Pipelines

Crystal Springs Pipelines

The CSPL system consists of CSPL Nos. 1, 2 and 3. These pipelines convey Regional Water System supply from Hetch Hetchy and/or the Sunol Valley Water Treatment Plant, by gravity, along the Peninsula and to the University Mound Reservoir. CSPL No. 1 is constructed of WSP, 44 inches in diameter. CSPL No. 2 ranges in diameter from 54 to 60 inches and is constructed of WSP and riveted wrought iron with a sliplined WSP. CSPL No. 3 is constructed of 60-inch-diameter prestressed concrete cylinder pipe (PCCP).

Sunset Supply Pipeline

The SSPL transports water from the Hetch Hetchy System north to San Francisco, by gravity. The pipeline is constructed of WSP, 60 inches in diameter. The SSPL delivers water to the Sunset Reservoir ("high zone") after being pumped at the Lake Merced Pump Station. Flow through the SSPL is controlled at several valves and valve lots along its alignment. The SSPL can also receive pressure-reduced high-zone flow from the 60-inch Sunset Branch Pipeline via the Capuchino Pressure-Reducing Valve.

San Andreas Pipelines

SAPLs Nos. 2 and 3 are the primary high-zone transmission lines for the Regional Water System. From Harry Tracy Water Treatment Plant, SAPLs Nos. 2 and 3 parallel each other up to the San Pedro Valve Lot, supplying water to high-zone service locations in the Peninsula and San Francisco. The terminus of SAPL No. 2 is at the Sunset Reservoir. SAPL No. 3 terminates at the Merced Manor Reservoir. The completion of the Peninsula Pipelines Seismic Upgrade addressed seismic vulnerabilities along SAPL Nos. 2 and 3 and provided an operational work-around to ensure delivery of high-zone water to terminus reservoirs after a seismic event. SAPL No. 2 is made of 54-inch steel; SAPL No. 3 is made of 66-inch PCCP, sliplined with steel, and 36-inch steel for the extension from San Pedro Valve Lot to Merced Manor Reservoir.

4.4 Other EFWS Improvements

4.4.1 Enhancements to System Response Capability

The extent and complexity of both the conventional EFWS and PEFWS will increase significantly with the proposed improvements. Enhanced monitoring and control systems will be necessary to operate the facilities and the system as a whole to quickly and effectively respond to fires after a major earthquake. As improvements are planned and designed, the operational schemes will be defined in more detail to identify specific system response improvements. However, the following improvements would enhance the data available to system operators and reduce the resources required to respond.

- Seismic Valves. Seismic valves are triggered by ground motions and are programmed to operate (generally to close) when an earthquake is detected. Strategically placed on the boundary of liquefaction zones, seismic valves can be used to automatically isolate portions of the EFWS so that pipe breaks do not drain the system. In addition, if placed on the connection between PEFWS and the municipal water system, valves could automatically isolate the PEFWS so that it can be pressurized for emergency firefighting.
- Remote Operated/Motorized Valves. If key valves, such as isolation valves and divide gates, are fitted with motorized valves that can be remotely operated, the system can be operated much more quickly and with fewer resources because staff do not need to be deployed to open or close the valves locally. System operation will also be less impacted by the transportation challenges that are likely after an earthquake.
- Enhanced Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition (SCADA) Functionality. Information about the status and condition of the EFWS is critical to response and operation of the system after an earthquake. For example, a remotely operated valve will not be opened if the condition of the pipes in the area is not known, due to the potential to exacerbate leakage from the system if they have been damaged. Therefore, enhanced SCADA functionality, such as a well-planned network of pressure transducers and a means of communicating status to system operators, will inform decision making and status reporting during response.

5. System Performance

5.1 Assessment of System Performance

The performance assessment approach for the proposed EFWS captures the ability of the system to deliver water to meet demand targets geographically across San Francisco. The performance metric used in this study, the delivery capability, is defined as the percentage of the water demand met by the EFWS pipeline network. This metric is similar to the reliability score used in prior EFWS studies, such as the CS-199 and Spending Plan Studies; but is modified to include only flow provided by the pipeline network, to reflect the focus of this study.

As described in Section 3, San Francisco has been divided into more than 600 50-acre grids. The firefighting water demands were calculated for each grid by aggregating demands for the city blocks in each grid. The hydraulic model simulated flow in the EFWS pipe network, accounting for post-earthquake damage to pipes, to determine how much water can be delivered to each grid. The delivery capability was calculated by dividing the flow delivered by the demand.

A Monte Carlo analysis consisting of 1,000 hydraulic modeling simulations was performed to generate a system performance data set that reflects the variability of post-seismic conditions. The system performance results presented in this study are reported for the 75th percentile of the performance data set.

5.2 Performance of Existing System

The existing EFWS will be extremely challenged to meet future firefighting demands if no improvements are made. As described in Section 3.1, demands under 2050 conditions represented by demand Case B are estimated to be 241,000 gpm. Areas in the western, southern, and central areas of San Francisco that would have been served by the PEFWS improvements would not have supply from existing EFWS pipelines. These areas would therefore have a zero delivery capability. Similarly, those areas that would have been served by extensions of the conventional EFWS—including the Park Merced/Ingleside, Hunters Point, and Candlestick areas—would also not be served by EFWS pipelines and would have a zero delivery capability.

For demand Case B, the firefighting water demand in the conventional EFWS service area is approximately 155,000 gpm. The existing supply sources—including PS1, PS2, Twin Peaks, and Summit Reservoir—can provide approximately 80,000 gpm via the existing EFWS pipe. Following an earthquake, a portion of the supply will be lost through leaks and breaks in the pipeline network. Therefore, in the conventional EFWS service area, the existing water sources would meet significantly less than 50 percent of the overall firefighting demand.

Figure 4-5 shows that 50 percent of the conventional EFWS is constructed of 10- and 12-inch-diameter pipes. The smaller-diameter pipes further lower the ability of the existing system to convey water from the limited supply sources to where the water is needed throughout the service area.

In summary, under future demand conditions, the delivery capability of the existing system will be extremely low if improvements are not made. Areas that would have been served by PEFWS and extensions of the conventional EFWS will have zero delivery capability. Delivery capability in the service area of the existing conventional EFWS will be significantly less than 50 percent on an area-wide basis, due to the limited water supply capacity and the hydraulic constraints of the existing pipelines.

5.3 Performance of Proposed System

The performance of the proposed recommended EFWS, including the system improvements described in Section 4, is shown on Figure 5-1. The legend is divided by color into two performance categories: blue gradations represent performance between 70 to 100 percent and red gradations represent performance less than 70 percent. The yellow grids represent those areas where the probability of ignition is so low that no fires occurred in the 1,000 Monte Carlo simulations for the 25th hour.

As described in Section 3.1.2, the 75th percentile of firefighting water requirements at the 25th hour following the earthquake has been used for design of the EFWS. This level is believed to be a conservative target for both citywide

demands and for most of the grid cells. Figure 5-1 shows some cells as having no demand; in most cases, this is because those cells are bodies of water, open spaces (parks or golf courses), and other areas where there is very little likelihood of significant fire. In a very few cells, the "no-demand" arises because there may have been fires soon after the earthquake which were extinguished, so that by the 25th hour, those cells no longer require water. This is within the random nature of what will happen following the earthquake. By designing for the maximum level and providing good coverage in all parts of San Francisco, firefighting water will be available soon after and through at least the 25th hour following the earthquake.

The improvements to the EFWS resulted in a high delivery capability across the majority of the areas in San Francisco. In 91 percent of the grids (excluding those without demands), a delivery capability of 90 percent or greater was achieved. In 7 percent of the grids, a delivery capability of 80 to 90 percent was achieved; the remaining 2 percent of the grids had a delivery capability of 70 to 80 percent. No areas in San Francisco had a delivery capability of less than 70 percent.

As described in Section 1, the objectives of this study are to:

- Establish demand targets for the study that are higher than median level and perform analysis at a finer geographical resolution than by FRA
- Develop a system of pipelines and water sources to meet firefighting water demands in all parts of San Francisco

The performance results presented on Figure 5-1 demonstrate that the proposed system improvements meet the study objectives. The demand targets established for the study incorporate the most current firefighting demand data available and have been established at the 75th percentile level. This demand target represents a significant increase in performance level over the median and provides a higher level of confidence that the system can deliver the water needed to fight fires after an earthquake.

Use of a gridded system consisting of 50-acre grids provides improved resolution over larger FRA study areas. The smaller study areas allow more precise determination of areas of insufficient delivery capability and identification of appropriate improvements to address them.

The results on Figure 5-1 show that all parts of San Francisco are able to receive water for emergency firefighting from the EFWS pipe network. Most of San Francisco achieves a delivery capability of at least 90 percent, and a minimum of 70 percent is achieved throughout San Francisco. It should be noted that the delivery capability does not take into account the supply from other components of the EFWS, such cisterns, suction manifolds, and fireboats. These other sources of supply provide an additional layer of reliability and redundancy to the EFWS supply.





6. Improvement Costs

Planning-level cost estimates, shown in Table 6-1, were prepared for the proposed improvements to the EFWS. Costs include pipeline improvements to the conventional EFWS and PEFWS; pump stations required for new water supply; and other improvements, including an air gap required for the new connection to Stanford Heights Reservoir and improvements to existing EFWS infrastructure. The estimated cost is approximately \$1.9 billion in 2021 dollars. Because Phase 1 of the Westside PEFWS has been funded by the 2020 ESER bond, the associated approximately \$170 million funding has been excluded from the PEFWS pipeline costs.

Escalated costs were also prepared, based on two construction period scenarios:

- 6-year construction period, corresponding to a completion year of 2034
- 14-year construction period, corresponding to a completion year of 2046

Improvements	Unit Cost (\$M)	Total (\$M)
Pipelines		\$1,133
Conventional Pipelines (39 miles)	\$16.7	\$651
PEFWS Pipelines (39 miles)	\$16.7	\$481
Pump Stations		\$609
University Mound	\$102	\$102
College Hill	\$51	\$51
Sutro	\$51	\$51
Lake Merced	\$102	\$102
PS2/North Seawater Pump Station	\$76	\$76
East Seawater Pump Station	\$76	\$76
Sunset	\$51	\$51
Central Pump Station	\$51	\$51
Portola Pump Stations	\$51	\$51
Other Facility Improvements		\$205
Stanford Heights		\$5
Improvements to Existing Facilities		\$200
Total		\$1,947

Table 6-1: Estimated Cost of Proposed System Improvements (2021\$)

Notes:

1) Pipeline unit cost from AECOM 2020b.

2) PEFWS Pipelines excludes previously funded Phase 1 of Westside PEFWS.

3) Pump Station costs from AECOM 2019.

4) Stanford Heights cost from AECOM 2017.

5) Pipeline costs do not include onsite distribution pipes on future development sites.

6) Improvements to existing facilities estimated based on preliminary facility assessments.

EFWS = Emergency Firefighting Water System

PEFWS = Potable Emergency Firefighting Water System

Table 6-2 shows the costs assuming completion by 2034, including a 6-year construction period. The total escalated cost is approximately \$2.9 billion. This scenario assumes that notice to proceed from the Board of Supervisors is received in the second quarter of 2022 and that there is a 1-year start (including funding) and an accelerated 5-year planning, design, and permitting period. The year 2034 completion scenario represents an extremely compressed program schedule. Table 6-2 also shows the costs assuming completion by 2046, including a 14-year construction period. The total escalated cost is approximately \$4.1 billion. This scenario assumes that notice to proceed from the Board of Supervisors is received in 2023 and that there is a 2-year start (including funding) and a 7-year planning, design, and permitting period. Completion by year 2046 represents a more feasible program schedule. Both scenarios assume 4 percent annual escalation.

Table 6-2: Escalated Costs, Completion by 2034 and 2046

	Costs (\$M) Escalated	
	Completion by 2034	Completion by 2046
Pipelines	\$1,714	\$2,369
Pump Stations	\$922	\$1,274
Other Facility Improvements	\$310	\$429
Total	\$2,945	\$4,072

Notes:

1) Completion by 2034 assumes notice to proceed in 2nd quarter 2022; 1-year start (including funding); and 5-year planning, design, and permitting (accelerated).

2) Completion by 2046 assumes notice to proceed in 2023; 2-year start (including funding); and 7-year planning, design, and permitting.

3) Assumes 4 percent annual escalation.

7. Westside Seawater Supply Feasibility

As described in Section 4.3.1, the water supply analysis determined that the PEFWS service area could be adequately served by supplies from Lake Merced, Sunset Reservoir, and University Mound Reservoir. However, the conventional EFWS service area had a water supply deficit of approximately 60,000 gpm after existing EFWS and selected potable reservoir sources were connected to the system. This deficit necessitated additional seawater pumping capacity on the conventional EFWS. A similar need for seawater supply on the PEFWS was not deemed necessary, because there is sufficient water to meet firefighting demand on the west side with the recommended citywide system. However, at the request of Supervisor Gordon Mar in November 2021, a concept to provide seawater supply on the west side of San Francisco to the PEFWS was developed. Analysis of this concept is based primarily on the prior Seawater Pre-Feasibility Study (AECOM 2021).

7.1 EFWS Seawater Supply Pre-Feasibility Study

The Seawater Pre-Feasibility Study identified the factors to be considered for development of additional seawater supply for the EFWS. The study did not develop recommendations for implementing or siting new seawater supply facilities, but documented items that would need to be considered in future evaluations. The study addressed regulatory and engineering aspects, as well as rough estimates of costs for different types of potential seawater pumping stations. The study analyzed new seawater intake supplies with flows from 3,000 gpm to 50,000 gpm.

Based on the geography of San Francisco and the division of primary regulatory jurisdictions, evaluation of potential seawater intakes was considered in five subregions of San Francisco. These shoreline subregions include the Southern Dunes, Rocky Area South, Rocky Area North, North Bayfront, and East Bayfront, shown on Figure 7-1.

The potential challenge or degree of difficulty in obtaining permits from the primary shoreline regulatory agencies is considered to be moderate to high. One of the greatest permitting challenges for implementing additional seawater sources to the EFWS would be approval of a new seawater withdrawal from either the Pacific Ocean or San Francisco Bay. The California Ocean Plan, which applies to the Pacific Ocean on the west side of San Francisco, requires subsurface seawater intakes, rather than open water intakes. Subsurface intakes have not been deemed infeasible at this time for the Pacific Ocean on the west side of San Francisco. Similar (though perhaps slightly less stringent) open water intake criteria exist for waters on the bay side of San Francisco under the Bay Conservation and Development Commission's Bay Plan. Subsurface intakes must be screened to reduce entrainment of marine life. With any screening system for open water intakes, consideration must be made for screen cleaning and inhibition of growth of marine organisms.

The number of pumps required to supply seawater to the EFWS is a function of the overall flows required and the type of intake. For a flow of 20,000 gpm, three conventional pumps rated at 10,000 gpm each (two duty, one standby), fed by an open water intake would be suitable. For the same flow, eight submersible pumps mounted in slant wells rated at 3,000 gpm each (seven duty, one standby) would likely be required. For smaller or larger flows, the number and capacity of pumps changes accordingly.

Order-of-magnitude cost estimates for new intake seawater supplies for each of the five subregions were developed for pump stations with capacities ranging from 3,000 to 50,000 gpm. Initial design, permitting, and construction costs are generally lowest for pump stations fed by open water intakes on the bay side of San Francisco, and greatest for open water intakes on the ocean side of San Francisco. Initial costs for slant well intakes on the ocean side are generally in the middle range. The cost of a 10,000 gpm seawater slant well pump station on Ocean Beach is estimated to be \$89 million. This cost includes environmental, permitting, land acquisition, pump station, and recirculation piping costs, as well as the cost to replace the wells and pumps at 15-year intervals (twice over a 45-year facility life span).



Figure 7-1: San Francisco Subregions Considered for Seawater Supplies to EFWS (Source: AECOM 2021)

7.2 Westside Seawater Supply Option

An option was developed to supply seawater for emergency firefighting along the west side of San Francisco. Under this option, the proposed pipeline configurations for PEFWS and the conventional EFWS do not change from those described in Section 4. Information developed in the Seawater Pre-Feasibility Study was used as the basis for development of this option. However, unlike the Seawater Pre-Feasibility Study, which assumes that seawater supply would be connected to the conventional EFWS, the Westside Seawater Option assumes that seawater would be put into the PEFWS.

The demand in the PEFWS service area is approximately 90,000 gpm, including the Westside, Richmond Extension, Southern Area, and Portola Loop. The Seawater Pre-Feasibility Study included a conceptual layout of slant well stations along Ocean Beach that could supply up to 50,000 gpm. The layout consists of series of seven stations distributed along Ocean Beach. Each station consists of three slant wells, which were deemed to be the more feasible type of intake from a permitting standpoint. The Westside Seawater Option expands this layout to provide the 90,000 gpm needed to meet the PEFWS demand. It is estimated that 10 well stations, each with a capacity of 10,000 gpm, would be required. This allows for the total supply to be met with nine well stations in service and one station as a standby. The configuration of the Westside seawater supply option is shown on Figure 7-2.

Each well station would pump into a common collector pipeline running in the north-south direction parallel to Ocean Beach, east of the Great Highway. The collector pipeline would then be connected to the PEFWS at three locations. This configuration provides operational flexibility by allowing all well stations to supply water to the PEFWS through multiple connection points along the west side.

When the Westside seawater supply is implemented following an earthquake, the PEFWS isolation valves with the City's low-pressure system are closed, and the PEFWS pipelines are pressurized using seawater. Once the PEFWS is supplied with seawater, it can no longer function as an emergency water supply backbone until the seawater is flushed. A boil water order would not allow the seawater to be used as an emergency water supply. Further study is required to determine the approach and duration for flushing of the PEFWS pipe network.

An order-of-magnitude cost estimate was developed for the Westside Seawater Option. The costs consist of the 10 well stations estimated based on the EFWS Seawater Pre-Feasibility Study, and the pipelines required to connect the wells to the PEFWS pipe network. Table 7-1 shows the total cost of approximately \$1 billion to supply the PEFWS using seawater. The costs are an initial conceptual estimate of the well station and pipelines only. Significant additional study is required to identify the many other costs associated with implementation of this option, such as modifications to the pipe network at Lake Merced, backup power to provide post-earthquake reliability, and air gaps at connection points between the well stations and PEFWS.

Table 7-2 shows the comparative costs for three supply options for PEFWS:

- Option 1: Freshwater supply to the PEFWS, using Lake Merced, Sunset, and University Mound Reservoirs, as described in Section 4
- Option 2: Seawater supply to the PEFWS using the 10 well stations, described in Section 77
- Option 3: Both freshwater and seawater supply to PEFWS, providing 100 percent supply redundancy to PEFWS

Based on the initial estimates, implementation of the freshwater supply (Option 1) is the least costly option, costing approximately \$1.9 billion. Replacing the freshwater supply with seawater (Option 2) increases the total system improvement cost by approximately \$800 million over the recommended citywide proposal discussed in Section 4 of this report. Implementing the seawater supply as a redundant source in addition to the freshwater supply (Option 3) increases the total cost by approximately \$1 billion over Option 1.

Figure 7-2: Westside Seawater Supply Option



Table 7-1: Westside Seawater Supply Option Cost

	Improvements	Quantity	Unit	Unit Cost (\$M)	Total (\$M)
Well Static	ons	10	station	\$89	\$890
Pipelines	Collector pipeline	3.0	mile	\$16.7	\$50
	Well station connection to collector pipe	2.5	mile	\$16.7	\$42
	Collector pipeline connection to PEFWS	1.0	mile	\$16.7	\$17
Total					\$999

Notes:

1) Pipeline unit costs based on AECOM 2020b.

2) Well station cost based on AECOM 2021, including replacement of well and pump at 15 year intervals over 45-year life.
 3) Costs in 2021\$.

PEFWS = Potable Emergency Firefighting Water System

Table 7-2: Westside Freshwater and Seawater Supply Option Costs

	Option 1 (\$M)	Option 2 (\$M)	Option 3 (\$M)						
	Supply:	Supply:	Supply:						
Improvements	Lake Merced/Potable	 Seawater 	Lake Merced/Potable						
			• Seawater(Redundant)						
North, West, South Areas	North, West, South Areas								
PEFWS Pipelines	\$481	\$481	\$481						
Freshwater Pump Stations	\$254	\$51	\$254						
Seawater Well Stations		\$890	\$890						
Seawater Connecting Pipelines		\$109	\$109						
Subtotal	\$735	\$1,531	\$1,734						

Conventional EFWS										
\$651	\$651	\$651								
\$355	\$355	\$355								
\$205	\$205	\$205								
\$1,212	\$1,212	\$1,212								
	\$651 \$355 \$205 \$1,212	\$651 \$651 \$355 \$355 \$205 \$205 \$1,212 \$1,212								

Total	\$1,947	\$2,742	\$2,945

Notes:

1) Costs in 2021\$.

EFWS = Emergency Firefighting Water System

PEFWS = Potable Emergency Firefighting Water System

8. Conclusions

The fundamental starting point for evaluating and improving San Francisco's EFWS is to assess how much water is needed for firefighting after an earthquake. The FFEWR Study provides these critical data—not just for current conditions, but also through the year 2050 so that plans can be developed to protect San Francisco well into the future. Given the uncertainty associated with post-earthquake fire and the seismic response of water systems, it is prudent to consider conservative water demand targets that are higher than median level. In that regard, demand targets have been established for this study at the 75th percentile level. In addition, input parameters that contribute to more conservative targets, such as selection of maximum demand levels anticipated through the 25th hour after an earthquake, have been selected.

This plan identifies the infrastructure needs to provide firefighting water supply citywide. The improvements include additional sources of water supply to meet demands, and the pipelines to convey water from the supply sources to the fireground where the water is needed. These objectives are achieved through two components of the EFWS: the conventional EFWS and the PEFWS. The approach implemented in each area of the system is based on factors such as engineering analyses and geography to maximize the benefits of the new infrastructure.

The improved system has a high delivery capability. The performance assessment demonstrates that the majority of the City of San Francisco's system achieves a delivery capability of at least 90 percent. The concept for the future system has been developed to meet demand targets, and optimization and design details would be developed in future phases of engineering planning and design. Future design phases should also include evaluation of the seismic reliability of existing facilities and infrastructure which support the EFWS.

The estimated cost of the recommended citywide improvements is approximately \$1.9 billion in 2021 dollars. If the construction is completed in a 6-year period to meet the 2034 completion date recommended to the Board of Supervisors, the escalated cost would be \$2.9 billion. This represents an extremely compressed program schedule. If construction were to be completed over a 14-year period, ending in 2046, the escalated cost would be \$4.1 billion. Completion by 2046 represents a much more feasible program implementation schedule.

This study assumes that SFFD resources increase commensurately with the growth in San Francisco's population. The pipelines and water supply sources provide water to the hydrants, but sufficient SFFD resources are needed to fully use the water provided by the improved EFWS. Because construction of EFWS pipelines on every block is not feasible, the pipeline configuration in the proposed improvements work in conjunction with deployment of the PWSS to extend the reach of EFWS hydrants to defend the areas between pipelines.

The water demand and supply analysis performed indicate that the potable and freshwater supplies are sufficient to meet the PEFWS demands. Supplying seawater on the west side of San Francisco to the PEFWS is not recommended at this time, but an option to provide this supply was assessed. The option consists of constructing an array of well stations along Ocean Beach and connecting pipelines to the PEFWS. The cost of providing seawater supply on the west side is approximately \$1 billion. Supplying seawater to the PEFWS would likely cause the system to lose its emergency water supply backbone function immediately after an earthquake.

The basis of the system design and results of the performance assessment reflect that the proposed improvements meet the study objectives:

- Updated and conservative demand targets above the median based on the FFEWR Study have been established.
- Information from the EFWS Seawater Pre-Feasibility Study has been incorporated into the evaluation of water supply sources.
- The system evaluation demonstrates that emergency firefighting supply can be delivered to all parts of San Francisco with high delivery capability.

9. References

AECOM. 2014. CS-199 Planning Support Services for Auxiliary Water Supply System Project Report. February.

- AECOM. 2015. Spending Plan for the ESER 2014 Bond. November.
- AECOM. 2017. Emergency Firefighting Water System (EFWS) Spending Plan Prioritization. May.
- AECOM. 2018. Richmond District Emergency Firefighting Water System Options Analysis. January.
- AECOM. 2019. Potable Emergency Firefighting Water System Sunset Pump Station Summary Technical Memorandum. September.
- AECOM. 2020a. Potable Emergency Firefighting Water System Pipeline Alternatives Analysis Report. July.
- AECOM. 2020b. Potable Emergency Firefighting Water System Pipeline Conceptual Engineering Report, July.
- AECOM. 2021. EFWS Seawater Supply Pre-Feasibility Study. June.
- City and County of San Francisco. 2019. Act Now Before it is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System, 2018-2019.
- O'Rourke, Michael, and Tatiana Vargas-Londono. 2018. "Influence of Diameter on Seismic Response of Buried Segmented Pipelines." Soil Dynamics and Earthquake Engineering 107: 332–38.
- Scawthorn, Charles. 2021. Fire Following Earthquake Water Requirements Study. Prepared for the San Francisco Public Utilities Commission by SPA Risk LLC under subcontract to AECOM.
- Scawthorn, C., J.M. Eidinger, and A.J. Schiff, eds. 2005. Fire Following Earthquake. Reston: American Society of Civil Engineers.

EFWS 2050 Planning Study December 2021

CGJ Year	Report Title [Publication Date]	Rec Number [for Finding Number]	Recommendation	Response Required	Original 2019 Response	Original 2019 Response Text (provided by CGJ)	2020 Response ⁽¹⁾	2020 Response Text	2021 Response ⁽¹⁾	2021 Response Text
2018-1	 Act Now Before It Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019] 	R1 [for F1-F6]	By no later than December 31, 2020, the Mayor, the SFPUC, the SFFO, and the Office of Resilience and Capital Planning should jointly present to the Board of Supervisors a detailed plan to ensure the City is well prepared to fight fires in all parts of San Francisco in the event of a 1906-magnitude (7.8) earthquake.	Mayor	Will be implemented	Ensuring that San Francisco has the infrastructure and resources to be well prepared to fight frees in al parts of San Francisco is something that will be a focus of the next 10-Vear Capital Plan. Per Administrative Code 3.20, that Plan must be submitted to the Mayor and Board no later than May 1. The requested presentation would be delivered as part of that Plan's submission to enable holistic planning across San Francisco's resilience challenges. Updates available on this timeline would be included. The City cannot discuss the project and timeline will the ESER 2020 plan passes. For this reason, the City will sync this recommendation with the Capital Plan, and push back the timeline to December 31, 2021.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	Ensuring that San Francisco has the infrastructure and resources to be well prepared to fight fires in al parts of San Francisco is something that will be a focus of the next 10-Year Capital Pfan. Per Administrative Code 3.20, that Plan must be submitted to the Mayor and Board no later than March 1 of each odd-numbered year for approval no later than May 1. The requested presentation would be delivered as part of that Plan's submission to enable holistic planning across San Francisco's resilience challenges. Updates available on this timeline would be included. The City cannot discuss the project and timeline until the ESER 2020 plan passes. For this reason, the City will sync this recommendation with the Capital Plan, and push back the timeline to December 31, 2021.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	The SFPUC, the SFFD, and the Office of Resilience and Capital Planning are actively coordinating to submit this Citywide Plan to the Board of Supervisors by December 31, 2021. The report will also be heard at the Capital Planning Committee and its recommendations considered for the FY 2024-2033 Capital Plan or an off-year capital plan update if the Capital Planning Committee desires.
2018-1	 Act Now Before It Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019] 	R2 [for F1-F6]	The plan discussed in Recommendation R: should include a detailed proposal including financing sources, for the installation within 15 years of a high- pressure, multi-sourced, seismically safe emergency water system for those parts o the City that don't currently have one, i.e., by no later than June 30, 2034.	Mayor f	Requires further analysis	The commitment of sources for specific uses on specific timelines for San Francisco's public infrastructure is the work of the 10-Year Capital Plan. The plan discussed in Recommendation 1 will be acknowledged in the Capital Plan, and based on analysis, will be done on the capital plan timeline. The capital planning process gathers, the Capital Plan The across San Francisco's resilience chalenges. The Capital Plan Thas longstanding funding principles to guide the prioritization of public infrastructure investments. These investments are tiered; (1) address legal and/or regulatory mandates; (2) ensure public safety and enhance planned and programmatic needs; and (5) promote conornic development. In the next 10-Year Capital Plan and those that follow, the City will continue to analyze priority projects and programs and identify sources to advance those priorities. Committing to entirely funding a single program out of context and without regard for the trade-offs of that commitment would be out of step with the City's longstanding and highly regarded capital planning process and likely create significant vulnerabilities elsewhere in the portfolio.	Requires Further Analysis	The commitment of sources for specific uses on specific timelines for San Francisco's public infrastructure is the work of the 10-Year Capital Plan. The plan discussed in Recommendation 1 will be acknowledged in the Capital Plan, and based on analysis, will be done on the capital plan timeline. The capital planning process gathers, documents, and balances planned funding for needs across the public infrastructure portfolio and across San Francisco's resilutione challenges. The Capital Plan has longstanding funding principles to guide the prioritization of public infrastructure investments. These investments are tiered: (1) address legal and/or regulatory mandates; (2) ensure public safety and enhance planned and programmatic needs; and (5) promote economic development. In the next 10-Year Capital Plan and those that follow, the City will continue to analyze priority projects and programs and identify sources to advance those priorities. Committing to entirely funding a single program out of contexit and without regard for the trade-offs of that commitment would be out of step with the City's longstanding and highly regarded capital planning process and likely create significant wuhreabilities elsewhere in the portfolio.	Will Not Be Implemented: Not Warranted or Not Reasonable	The commitment of sources for specific uses on specific timelines for San Francisco's public infrastructure is the work of the 10-Year Capital Plan, plan discussed in Recommendation 1 will be acknowledged in the Capital Plan, and based on analysis, will be done on the capital plan timeline. The capital Plan, and based on analysis, will be done on the capital plan timeline. The capital Plan, and based on analysis, will be done on the capital plan timeline. The capital Plan, and based on analysis, will be done on the capital plan timeline. The capital Plan, across the public infrastructure portfolio and across San Francisco's resilience challenges. The Capital Plan has longstanding truinding principles to guide the prioritization of public infrastructure investments. These investments are tiered: (1) address legal and/or regulatory mandates; (2) ensure public safety and enhance resilience, including racial equity; (3) preserve assets and promote sustainability; (4) advance planned and programatic needs), and (5) promote economic development. In the next 10-Year Capital Plan and those that follow; the City will context and willhout regard for the trade-offs of that commitment would be out of step with the City's longstanding and highly regarded capital planning process and likely create significant vulnerabilities elsewhere in the portfolio.
2018-1	 Act Now Before It Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019] 	R8 [for F5, F6, F11]	By no later than June 30, 2022, the Mayor and the Board of Supervisors should analyze whether to propose a separate boord for the development of a high- pressure, multi-sourced, seismically afte emergency water system for those parts o the City that don't currently have one, with a target date of completing construction by no later than June 30, 2034.	Mayor	Will be implemented	The analysis will be performed as part of the City's 10-Year Capital Plan development process. The next ful update to the Capital Plan will be submitted to the Mayor and Board not later than March 1, 2021, for approval no later than May 1, 2021.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	The analysis will be performed as part of the City's 10-Year Capital Plan development process. The next ful update to the Capital Plan will be submitted to the Mayor and Board not later than March 1, 2021, for approval no later than May 1, 2021.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	The analysis will be performed in response to the detailed plan in Recommendation 1 and as a part of the City's 10-Year Capital Plan development process. Given that the study will be completed by December 31, 2021, the consideration of a stand-alone bond will not occur until the next Capital Plan update unless the Capital Planning Committee requests earlier action. This update will be submitted to the Mayor and Board no later than March 1, 2023, for approval no later than May 1, 2023.
2018-1	 Act Now Before It Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019] 	R4 [for F6-F7]	As interim measure, by no later than June 30, 2021, the City should purchase the 20 new PWSS hose tenders being requested by the SFFD, to replace and expand its currently inadequate inventory.	Mayor	Requires further analysis	The Fire Department has been allocated funding to purchase five units through funds from the FY18-20 city budget and an allocation from the State. The Department is currently working with the Office of Contract Administration to develop a multi-year term contract for hose tenders so in the case that additional funding is secured in future years, the Department will be able to reduce the amount of time for procurement of the appartants. Each hose tender cost \$1 million each, and we need to weigh purchase of additional hose tenders to other budget request and priority.	Will Not Be Implemented: Not Warranted or Not Reasonable	The Fire Department was previously allocated funding to purchase a projected five units through a combination of funds from the FY19-20 City budget and an allocation from the State. However, given the City's economic realities as a result of the COVID pandemic, funding for two of these units was reduced from the Department's budget in order to help balance the City's budget deficit. The Department, working with the Office of Contract Administration, has a bid posted currently for the purchase of these units and is looking to develop a multi-year term contract for hose tenders in the case that additional funding is secured in future years. Each hose tenders to ther budget requests and priorities. Due to fiscal uncertainty, the City is unable to commit to purchasing 20 new PWSS hose tenders by June 2021.		
2018-1	Act Now Before It Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019]	R1 [for F1-F6]	By no later than Desember 31, 2020, the Mayor, the SFPUC, the SFPD, and the Office of Resilience and Capital Planning should jointly present to the Board of Supervisors a detailed plan to ensure the City is well prepared to fight fires in all parts of San Francisco in the event of a 1906-magnitude (7.8) earthquake.	General Manager, San Francisco Public Utilities Commission	Will be implemented	Ensuring that San Francisco has the infrastructure and resources to be will prepared to fight fires in al parts of San Francisco is something that will be a focus of the rest 10-Year Capital Plan, Per Administrative Code 3.20, that Plan must be submitted to the Mayor and Board no later than March 1 of each odd-numbered year for approval no later than May 1.1 requested presentation would be delivered as part of that Plan's submission to enable holisci planning across San Francisco's resilience challenges. Updates available on this limeline would be included. The City cannot discuss the project and timeline util the ESER 2020 plan passes. For this reason, the City will sync this recommation with the Capital Plan, and push back the timeline to December 31, 2021.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	Ensuring that San Francisco has the infrastructure and resources to be well prepared to fight fires in all parts of San Francisco is something that will be a focus of the next 10-Year Capital Plan. Per Administrative Code 3.20, that Plan must be submitted to the Mayor and Board no later than March 1 of aech odd-numbered year for approval no later than May 1. The requested presentation would be delivered as part of that Plan's submission to enable holistic planning across San Francisco's resilience challenges. Updates available on this timeline would be included. For this reason, the City will sync this recommendation with the Capital Plan, and push back the timeline to December 31, 2021.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	The SFPUC; the SFFD, and the Office of Resilience and Capital Planning are actively coordinating to submit this Citywide Plan to the Board of Supervisors by December 31, 2021. The report will also be heard at the Capital Planning Committee and its recommendations considered for the FY 2024-2033 Capital Plan or an off-year capital plan update if the Capital Planning Committee desires.

	CGJ Year	Report Title [Publication Date]	Rec Number [for Finding Number]	Recommendation	Response Required	Original 2019 Response	Original 2019 Response Text (provided by CGJ)	2020 Response ⁽¹⁾	2020 Response Text	2021 Response ⁽¹⁾	2021 Response Text
	2018-19	Act Now Before It is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019]	R2 [for F1-F6]	The plan discussed in Recommendation R1 should include a detailed proposal including financing sources, for the installation within 15 years of a high- pressure, multi-sourced, seisined ally safe emergency water system for those parts of the City that don't currently have one, i.e., by no later than June 30, 2034.	General Manager, San Francisco Public Utilities commission	Requires further analysis	The commitment of sources for specific uses on specific timelines for San Francisco's public infrastructure is the work of the 10-Year Capital Plan. The plan discussed in Recommendation 1 will be acknowledged in the Capital Plan, and based on analysis, will be done on the capital plan timeline. The capital planning process gathers, the Capital Plan The across San Francisco's resilience challenges. The Capital Plan has longstanding funding principles to guide the prioritization of public infrastructure investments. These investments are tiered: (1) address legal and/or regulatory mandates; (2) ensure public safety and enhance planned and programmatic needs; and (5) promote economic development. In the next 10-Year Capital Plann and those that follow, the City will continue to analyze priority projects and programs and identify sources to advance those priorities. Commiting to entirely funding a single program out of context and without regard for the trade-offs of that commitment would be out of step with the City's longstanding and highly regarded capital planning porcess and likely create significant vulnerabilities elsewhere in the portfolio.	Requires Further Analysis	The commitment of sources for specific uses on specific timelines for San Francisco's public infrastructure is the work of the 10-Year Capital Plan. The plan discussed in Recommendation 1 will be acknowledged in the Capital Plan, and based on analysis, will be done on the capital plan timeline. The capital planning process gathers, bocuments, and balances planned funding for needs across the public infrastructure portfolio and across San Francisco's resilience challenges. The Capital Plan has longstanding funding principles to guide the prioritization of public infrastructure investments. These investments are tiered: (1) address legal and/or regulatory mandates; (2) ensure public safety and enhance planned and programmatic needs; and (5) promote economic development. In the next 10-Year Capital Plan and those that follow, the City will continue to analyze priority projects and programs and identify sources to advance those priorities. Committing to entirely funding a single program out of context and without regard for the trade-offs of that commitment would be out of step with the City's longstanding and highly regarded capital planning process and likely create significant vulnerabilities elsewhere in the portfolio.	Will Not Be Implemented	The commitment of sources for specific uses on specific timelines for San Francisco's public infrastructure is the work of the 10-Year Capital Plan. The plan discussed in Recommendation 1 will be acknowledged in the Capital Plan, and based on analysis, will be done on the capital plan timeline. The capital Plan, and based on analysis, will be done on the capital plan timeline. The capital Plan, and bases gathers, documents, and balances planned funding for needs across the public infrastructure portfolio and across San Francisco's resilience challenges. The Capital Plan has longstanding funding principels to guide the prioritization of public infrastructure investments. These investments are tiered: (1) address legal and/or regulatory mandates; (2) ensure public safety and enhance resilience, <i>including racial equity</i> ; (3) preserve assets and promote sustainability; (4) advance planned and programmatic needs; and (5) promote economic development. In the next 10-Year Capital Plan and those that follow, the City will continue to analyse priority projects and programs and identify program out of context and without regard for the trade-offs of that commitment would be out of step with the City's iongstanding and highly regarded capital planning process and likely create significant vulnerabilities elsewhere in the portfolio.
	2018-19	Act Now Before It Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019]	R6 [for F8-F9]	The SFPUC, the SFFD and the SF Department of the Environment should study adding salt-water pump stations to improve the redundancy of water sources, especially on the vest side. Findings and recommendations from this study should be preserted to the Board of Supervisors by no later than June 30, 2021.	General Manager, San Francisco Public Utilities Commission	Will be implemented	SFPUC and SFFD will complete this study by June 30, 2021.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	SFPUC and SFFD will complete this study by June 30, 2021.	Recommendation Implemented	The Study was submitted to the Board of Supervisors on June 23, 2021. Please use this link to access the study: <u>https://stouv.legistar.com/View.ashx?M=F&ID=10378423&GUID=49428B8E- SCE5-4A98-A9E5-564491CAC220</u>
	2018-19	Act Now Before It Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019]	R7 [for F10]	The SFPUC should (a) continue its efforts to complete a more detailed analysis of emergency firefighting water needs (including above-the-median needs) by neighborhood, and not just by FRA, and (b) present a completed analysis to the Board of Supervisors by no later than June 30, 2021.	General Manager, San Francisco Public Utilities Commission	Will be implemented	SFPUC and SFFD will complete this analysis by June 30, 2021.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	SFPUC and SFFD will complete this study by June 30, 2021.	Recommendation Implemented	The Study was submitted to the Board of Supervisors on June 23, 2021. Please use this link to access the study: https://sfoov.legistar.com/View.asbx?N=F&ID=10378423&GUID=49428B8E- 5CE6-4A88-A9E5-564491CACc220
1	2018-19	Act Now Before It Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019]	R9 [for F12]	By no later than December 31, 2020 the SFPUC, with the advice and subject to the approval of the SFFD, should (a) implement "best practices" for the maintenance of AWSS assets, and (b) redefine which AWSS valves in the system are "critical." and, therefore, require more attention and priority in the SFPUC's maintenance plans.	General Manager, San t Francisco Public Utilities Commission	Has been implemented	 (a) SFPUC implements 'best practices' for the maintenance of AWSS assets in collaboration with SFFD, and consistent with the terms of the Memorandum of Understanding Regarding Operation and Maintenance of San Francisco Water Supply Systems Related to Fire Suppression (MOU), SFPUC will seek SFFD's written approval for "any modifications that could compromise" the system's function as a high pressure firefighting system (MOU, page 2). (b) The AWSS critical valves have been identified and will be exercised every year through the AWSS Critical Valve Exercise Program. 			**	
	018-19	Act Now Before It Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019]	R10 [for F13]	By no later than June 30, 2020, the 2015 MOU between the SFPUC and the SFFD should be amended to include a detailed roadmap for annual emergency response exercises, including simulated disaster and earthquake drills involving the AWSS and the PWSS.	General Manager, San Francisco Public Utilities Commission	Will be implemented	SFFD and SFPUC will work together to amend the MOU by June 30, 2020.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	Due to shifting priorities of staff due to the COVID-19 Pandemic, the amendments to the MOU are delayed. SFPUC and SFFD are actively working on the amendments and expect to have them finalized by June 30, 2021. However, SFPUC and SFFD already agreed to a new and increased trainings and drills and are actively completing these activities.	Recommendation Implemented	The SFPUC and SFFD finalized the Amended and Restated MOU in August 2021. The Amended and Restated MOU was executed on August 19, 2021, when it was signed by the Chief of SFFD and the Acting General Manager of the SFPUC.
	2018-19	Act Now Before It Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019]	R1 [for F1-F6]	By no later than December 31, 2020, the Mayor, the SFPUC, the SFPU, and the Office of Resilience and Capital Planning should jointly present to the Board of Supervisors a detailed plan to ensure the City is well prepared to fight fires in all parts of San Francisco in the event of a 1906-magnitude (7.8) earthquake.	Chief, San Francisco Fire Department	Will be implemented	Ensuring that San Francisco has the infrastructure and resources to be well prepared to fight fires in all parts of San Francisco is something that will be a focus of the next 10-Year Capital Plan. Per Administrative Code 3.20, that Plan must be submitted to the Mayor and Board no later than March 1 of each odd-numbered year for approval no later than May 1.1 requested presentation would be delivered as part of that Plan's submission to enable holisci planing across San Francisco's resilience challenges. Updates available on this timeline would be included. The City cannot discuss the project and timeline util the ESER 2020 plan passes. For this reason, the City will sync this recommendation with the Capital Plan, and push back the timeline to December 31, 2021.	I Will Be Implemented in the Future	Ensuring that San Francisco has the infrastructure and resources to be well prepared to fight free in all parts of San Francisco is something that will be a focus of the next 10-Year Capital Plan. Per Administrative Code 3.20, that Plan must be submitted to the Mayor and Board no later than March 1 of each odd-numbered year for approval no later than May 1. The requested presentation would be delivered as part of that Plan's submission to enable holistic planning across San Francisco's resilience challenges. Updates available on this timeline would be included. Now that the ESER 2020 bond has passed, the City can begin to plan with greater specificity. As indicated in the 2019 response, the City will sync this recommendation with the Capital Plan, and push back the timeline to December 31, 2021.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	The SFPUC, the SFFD, and the Office of Resilience and Capital Planning are actively coordinating to submit this Citywide Plann to the Baard of Supervisors by December 31, 2021. The report will also be heard at the Capital Planning Committee and its recommendations considered for the FY 2024-2033 Capital Plan or an off-year capital plan update if the Capital Planning Committee desires.

CC Ye	GJ Report Title ar [Publication Date]	Rec Number [for Finding Number] Recommendation	Response Required	Original 2019 Response	Original 2019 Response Text (provided by CGJ)	2020 Response ⁽¹⁾	2020 Response Text	2021 Response ⁽¹⁾	2021 Response Text
2018	19 Act Now Before II Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Out High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System (July 17, 2019)	R2 [for F1-F6]	The plan discussed in Recommendation Rt should include a detailed proposal, including financing sources, for the installation within 15 years of a high- pressure, multi-sourced, seismically safe emergency water system for those parts of the City that don't currently have one, i.e., by no later than June 30, 2034.	Chief, San Francisco Fire Department	Requires further analysis	The commitment of sources for specific uses on specific timelines for San Francisco's public infrastructure is the work of the 10-Year Capital Plan. The plan discussed in Recommendation 1 will be acknowledged in the Capital Plan, and based on analysis, will be done on the capital plan timeline. The capital planning process gathers, The Capital Plan has consed and funding for needs across the public infrastructure portfolio and across San Francisco's resilience challenges. The Capital Plan has longstanding funding principles to guide the prioritization of public infrastructure investments. These investments are tiered: (1) address legal and/or regulatory mandates; (2) ensure public safety and enhance resilience; (3) preserve assets and promote sustainability; (4) advance planned and programmatic needs; and (5) promote economic development. In the next 10-Year Capital Plan an and those that follow, the City will continue to analyze priority projects and programs and identify sources to advance those priorities. Committing to entirely funding a single program out of context and without regard for the trade-offs of the commitment would be out of step with the City's longstanding and highly regared capital planning process and likely create significant vulnerabilities elsewhere in the portfolio.	Requires Further Analysis	The commitment of sources for specific uses on specific timelines for San Francisco's public infrastructure is the work of the 10-Year Capital Plan. The plan discussed in Recommendation 1 will be acknowledged in the Capital Plan, and based on analysis, will be done on the capital plan timeline. The capital planning process gathers, documents, and balances planned funding for needs across the public infrastructure portfolio and across San Francisco's resiltence challenges. The Capital Plan has longstanding funding principles to guide the prioritization of public infrastructure investments. These investments are tiered: (1) address legal and/or regulatory mandates; (2) ensure public safety and enhance planned and programmatic needs; and (5) promote economic development. In the next 10-Year Capital Plan and those that follow, the City will continue to analyze priority projects and programs and identify sources to advance those priorities. Committing to entriety funding a single program out of context and withour tegard for the trade-offs of that commitment would be out of step with the City's longstanding and highly vulnerabilities elsewhere in the portfolio.	Will Not Be Implemented: Not Warranted or Not Reasonable	The commitment of sources for specific uses on specific timelines for San Francisco's public infrastructure is the work of the 10-Year Capital Plan. The plan discussed in Recommendation 1 will be acknowledged in the Capital Plan, and based on analysis, will be done on the capital plan timeline. The capital Plan, and based on analysis, will be done on the capital plan timeline. The capital Plan, and based on analysis, will be done on the capital plan timeline. The capital Plan, across the public infrastructure portfolio and across San Francisco's resilience chalenges. The Capital Plan has longstanding funding principels to guide the prioritization of public infrastructure investments. These investments are tiered: (1) address legal and/or regulatory mandates; (2) ensure public safety and enhance resilience, including racial equity; (3) preserve assets and promote sustainability; (4) advance planned and programmatic needs; and (5) promote economic development. In the next 10-Year Capital Plan and those that follow, the City will continue to analyze priority projects and programs and identify sources to advance those priorities. Committing to entirely funding a single program out of context and without regard for the trade-offs of that commitment would be out of step with the City's longstanding and high's regarded capital planning process and likely create significant vulnerabilities elsewhere in the portfolio.
2018	-19 Act Now Before It Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Ou High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019]	R5 [for F4]	The SFFD should strategically locate the majority of the PWSS hose tenders in areas that at present only have low- pressure hydrants and/or cisterns.	Chief, San Francisco Fire Department	Will be implemented	The Department is currently finalizing specifications for these units, after which they will go out to bid through the City's procurement processes before construction. It is anticipated the Department will take receipt of these units in the second half of 2020/early 2021. These hose tenders are a heavy-duty apparatus designed to be able to be deployed and moved throughout the City depending on need, giving the Department needed operational flexibility in its response.	Recommendation Implemented	The Department currently has the hose tender specifications out to bid with the City's Office of Contract Administration, with proposals due in late November/early December 2020. These hose tenders are a heavy- duty apparatus designed to be able to be deployed and moved throughou the City depending on need, giving the Department needed operational flexibility in its response.	**	
2018	19 Act Now Before II is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Out High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019]	R4 [for F6-F7]	As interim measure, by no later than June 30, 2021, the City should purchase the 20 new PWSS hose tenders being requested by the SFFD, to replace and expand its currently inadequate inventory.	Chief, San Francisco Fire Department	Requires further analysis	The Fire Department has been allocated funding to purchase five units through funds from the FY19-20 City budget and an allocation from the State. The Department is currently working with the Office of Contract Administration to develop a multi-year term contract for hose tenders so in the case that additional funding is secured in future years, the Department will be able to reduce the amount of time for procurement of the aparatus. Each hose tender cost \$1 million each, and we need to weigh purchase of additional hose tenders to other budget request and priority.	Will Not Be Implemented: No Warranted or No Reasonable	The Fire Department was previously allocated funding to purchase a projected five units through a combination of funds from the FY19-20 City budget and an allocation from the State. However, given the City's economic realities as a result of the COVID pandemic, funding for two of these units was reduced from the Department's budget in order to help balance the City's budget deficit. The Department, working with the Office of Contract Administration, has a bid posted currently for the purchase of these units and is looking to develop a multi-year term contract for hose tenders in the case that additional funding is secured in future years. Each hose tender ost \$1 million each, and we need to weigh purchase of additional hose tenders to other budget requests and priorities.		
2018	19 Act Now Before It Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019]	R6 [for F8-F9]	The SFPUC, the SFFD and the SF Department of the Environment should study adding salt-water pump stations to improve the redundancy of water sources, especially on the west side. Findings and recommendations from this study should be presented to the Board of Supervisors by no later than June 30, 2021.	Chief, San Francisco Fire Department	Will be implemented	SFPUC and SFFD will complete this study by June 30, 2021.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	SFPUC and SFFD will complete this study by June 30, 2021.	Recommendation Implemented	The Study was submitted to the Board of Supervisors on June 23, 2021. Please use this link to access the study: https://stopulestar.com/view.ash/v2M=E3ID=10378423&GUID=49428B8E- <u>SCE6-4A98-A9E5-564491CAC220</u>
2018	-19 Act Now Before It Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019]	R7 [for F10]	The SFPUC should (a) continue its efforts to complete a more detailed analysis of emergency firefighting water needs (including above-the-median needs) by neighborhood, and to just by FRA, and (b) present a completed analysis to the Board of Supervisors by no later than June 30, 2021.	Chief, San Francisco Fire Department	Will be implemented	SFPUC and SFFD will complete this analysis by June 30, 2021.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	SFPUC and SFFD will complete this analysis by June 30, 2021.	Recommendation Implemented	The Study was submitted to the Board of Supervisors on June 23, 2021. Please use this link to access the study: Into://sigour_legistar.com/View.ashx?t/l=F&ID=10378423&GUID=49428B8E- SCE 6-4A08-A9E5-564491CAC220
2018	19 Act Now Before It Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Ou High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019]	R10 [for F13]	By no later than June 30, 2020, the 2015 MOU between the SFPUC and the SFPD should be amended to include a detailed roadmap for annual emergency response exercises, including simulated disaster and earthquake drills involving the AWSS and the PWSS.	Chief, San Francisco Fire Department	Will be implemented	The Fire Department conducts weekly hose/hose tender drills that it rotates through companies throughout the City. The Fire Department will work with the SFPUC to have them in attendance and participate in these drills. SFFD will also commit to working with the PUC to enhance the scope and frequency of trainings in the future for improved collaboration. SFFD and SFPUC will work together to amend the MOU by June 30, 2020.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	Due to shifting priorities of staff due to the COVID-19 Pandemic, the amendments to the MOU are delayed. SFPUC and SFFD are actively working on the amendments and expect to have them finalized by June 30, 2021. However, SFPUC and SFFD already agreed to a new and increased trainings and drills and are actively completing these activities.	Recommendation Implemented	The SFPUC and SFFD finalized the Amended and Restated MOU in August 2021. The Amended and Restated MOU was executed on August 19, 2021, when it was signed by the Chief of SFFD and the Acting General Manager of the SFPUC.
2018	-19 Act Now Before It Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019]	R9 [for F12]	By no later than December 31, 2020 the SFPUC, with the advice and subject to the approval of the SFPC, should (a) implement "best practices" for the maintenance of AWSS assets, and (b) redefine which AWSS surves in the system are "critical", and, therefore, require more attention and priority in the SFPUC's maintenance plans.	Chief, San Francisco Fire t Department	Has been implemented	(a) SFPUC implements "best practices" for the maintenance of AWSS assets in collaboration with SFFD, and consistent with the terms of the Memorandum of Understanding Regarding Operation and Maintenance of San Francisco Water Supply Systems Related to Firs Suppression (MOU). SFPUC will seek SFFD's written approval for "any modifications that could compromise" the system's function as a high pressure firefighting system (MOU, page 2). (b) The AWSS critical valves have been identified and will be exercised every year through the AWSS Critical Valve Exercise Program.	•			

	CGJ Year	Report Title [Publication Date]	Rec Number [for Finding Number]	Recommendation	Response Required	Original 2019 Response	Original 2019 Response Text (provided by CGJ)	2020 Response ⁽¹⁾	2020 Response Text	2021 Response ⁽¹⁾	2021 Response Text
2	018-19	Act Now Before It Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019]	R1 [for F1-F6]	By no later than December 31, 2020, the Mayor, the SFPUC, the SFPU, and the Office of Resilience and Capital Planning should jointly present to the Board of Supervisors a detailed plan to ensure the City is well prepared to fight fires in all parts of San Francisco in the event of a 1906-magnitude (7.8) earthquake.	City Administrator	Will be implemented	Ensuring that San Francisco has the infrastructure and resources to be well prepared to fight frees in al parts of San Francisco is something that will be a focus of the next 10-Vear Capital Plan. Per Administrative Code 3.20, that Plan must be submitted to the Mayor and Board no later than March 1 of each odd-numbered year for approval no later than May 1. The requested presentation would be delivered as part of that Plan's submission to enable holiscip planing across San Francisco's resilience challenges. Updates available on this timeline would be included. The City cannot discuss the project and timeline until the ESER 2020 plan passes. For this reason, the City will sync this recommendation with the Capital Plan, and push back the timeline to December 31, 2021.	I Will Be Implemented in the Future	Ensuring that San Francisco has the infrastructure and resources to be well prepared to fight fires in all parts of San Francisco is something that will be a focus of the FY 2023-2032 Capital Plan. Per Administrative Code 3.20, that Plan must be submitted to the Mayor and Board no later than March 1 of each odd-mubered year for approval no later than May 1. The requested presentation would be delivered as part of that Plan's submission to enable holistic planning across San Francisco's resilience chalenges. Updates available on this timeline would be included. Now that the ESER 2020 bond has passed, the City can begin to plan with greater specificity. As indicated in the 2019 response, the City will sync this recommendation with the Capital Plan, and push back the timeline to December 31, 2021.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	The SFPUC, the SFFD, and the Office of Resilience and Capital Planning are actively coordinating to submit this Citywide Plann to the Baard of Supervisors by December 31, 2021. The report will also be heard at the Capital Planning Committee and its recommendations considered for the FY 2024-2033 Capital Plan or an off-year capital plan update if the Capital Planning Committee desires.
2	018-19	Act Now Before It Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019]	R2 [for F1-F6]	The plan discussed in Recommendation R should include a detailed proposal including financing sources, for the installation within 15 years of a high- pressure, multi-sourced, selsimically safe emergency water system for those parts o the City that don't currently have one, i.e., by no later than June 30, 2034.	City Administrator	Requires further analysis	The commitment of sources for specific uses on specific timelines for San Francisco's public infrastructure is the work of the 10-Yaar Capital Plan. The plan discussed in Recommendation 1 will be acknowledged in the Capital Plan, and based on analysis, will be done on the capital plan timeline. The capital planning process gathers, documents, and balances planned funding for needs across the public infrastructure portfolio and across San Francisco's resilience chalenges. The Capital Plan has longstanding funding principles to guide the prioritization of public infrastructure investments. These investments are litered. (1) address legal and/or regulatory mandates; (2) ensure public safety and enhance planned and programmatic needs; and (5) promote economic development. In the next 10-Yaar Capital Plan and those that follow, the City will continue to analyze priority projects and programs and identify sources to advance out of step with the City's longstanding and highly regarded capital planning process and likely create significant vulnerabilities elsewhere in the portfolio.	Requires Further Analysis	The commitment of sources for specific uses on specific timelines for San Francisco's public infrastructure is the work of the 10-Year Capital Plan. The plan discussed in Recommendation 1 will be acknowledged in the Capital Plan, and based on analysis, will be done on the capital plan timeline. The capital planning process gathers, documents, and balances planned funding for needs across the public infrastructure portfolio and across San Francisco's resilience challenges. The Capital Plan has longstanding funding principles to guide the prioritization of public infrastructure investments. These investments are tiered: (1) address legal and/or regulatory mandates; (2) ensure public safety and enhance planned and programmatic needs; and (5) promote economic development. In the next 10-Year Capital Plan and those that follow, the City will continue to analyze priority projects and programs and identify sources to advance those priorities. Committing to entirely funding a single program out of context and without regard for the trade-offs of that commitment would be out of step with the City singstanding and highly regarded capital planning process and likely create significant wuhreabilities elsewhere in the portfolio.	Will Not Be Implemented	The commitment of sources for specific uses on specific timelines for San Francisco's public infrastructure is the work of the 10-Year Capital Plan. The plan discussed in Recommendation 1 will be acknowledged in the Capital Plan, and based on analysis, will be done on the capital plan timeline. The capital planning process gathers, documents, and balances planned flunding for needs across the public infrastructure portfolio and across San Francisco's resilience chalenges. The Capital Plan has longstanding funding principels to guide the prioritization of public infrastructure investments. These investments are tiered: (1) address legal and/or regulatory mandates; (2) ensure public safety and enhance resilience, including racial equity; (3) preserve assets and promote sustainability; (4) advance planned and programatic needs, and (5) promote economic development. In the next 10-Year Capital Plan and those that follow, the City will context and without regard for the trade-offs of that commitment would be out of step with the City's longstanding and highly regarded capital planning process and likely create significant vulnerabilities elsewhere in the portfolio.
2	018-19	Act Now Before It Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019]	R8 [for F5, F6, F11]	By no later than June 30, 2022, the Mayor and the Board of Supervisors should analyze whether to propose a separate bond for the development of a high- pressure, multi-sourced, seismically safe emergency water system for those parts o the City that don't currently have one, with a target date of completing construction by no later than June 30, 2034.	City Administrator	Will be implemented	The analysis will be performed as part of the City's 10-Year Capital Plan development process. The next full update to the Capital Plan will be submitted to the Mayor and Board not later than March 1, 2021, for approval no later than May 1, 2021.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	The analysis will be performed in response the detailed plan in Recommendation 1 and as a part of the City's 10-Year Capital Plan development process. Given that the study will be completed by December 31, 2021, the consideration of a stand-alone bond will not couru mit the YP 2023-2032 Capital Plan update. This update that will be complete by will be submitted to the Mayor and Board no later than March 1, 2022, for approval no later than May 1, 2022.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	The analysis will be performed in response to the detailed plan in Recommendation 1 and as a part of the City's 10-Year Capital Plan development process. Given that the study will be completed by December 31, 2021, the consideration of a stand-alone bond will not occur until the next Capital Plan update unless the Capital Planning Committee requests earlier action. This update will be submitted to the Mayor and Board no later than March 1, 2023, for approval no later than May 1, 2023.
2	018-19	Act Now Before It Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019]	R1 [for F1-F6]	By no later than Desember 31, 2020 the Mayor, the SFPUC, the SFFD, and the Office of Resilience and Capital Plarming should jointly present to the Board of Supervisors a detailed plan to ensure the City is well prepared to fight fires in all parts of San Francisco in the event of a 1906-magnitude (7.8) earthquake.	Chief Resilience Officer, Office of the City Administrator	Will be implemented	Ensuring that San Francisco has the infrastructure and resources to be we prepared to fight fires in al parts of San Francisco is something that will be a focus of the next 10-Year Capital Plan. Per Administrative Code 3.20, that Plan must be submitted to the Mayor and Board no later than March 1 of each odd-numbered year for approval no later than May 1.1 The requested presentation would be delivered as part of that Plan's submission to enable holiscip planing across San Francisco's resilience challenges. Updates available on this timeline would be included. The City cannot discuss the project and timeline until the ESER 2020 plan passes. For this reason, the City will sync this recommendation with the Capital Plan, and push back the timeline to December 31, 2021.	I Will Be Implemented in the Future	Ensuring that San Francisco has the infrastructure and resources to be well prepared to fight fires in all parts of San Francisco is something that will be a focus of the next 10-Year Capital Plan. Per Administrative Code 3.20, that Plan must be submitted to the Mayor and Board no later than March 1 of each odd-numbered year for approval no later than May 1. The requested presentation would be delivered as part of that Plan's submission to enable holistic planning across San Francisco's resilience chalenges. Updates available on this timeline would be included. Now that the ESER 2020 bond has passed, the City can begin to plan with greater specificity. As indicated in the 2019 response, the City will sync this recommendation with the Capital Plan, and push back the timeline to December 31, 2021.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	The SFPUC, the SFFD, and the Office of Resilience and Capital Planning are actively coordinating to submit this Citywide Plann to the Board of Supervisors by December 31, 2021. The report will also be heard at the Capital Planning Committee and its recommendations considered for the FY 2024-2033 Capital Plan or an off-year capital plan update if the Capital Planning Committee desires.
2	018-19	Act Now Before It Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019]	R2 [for F1-F6]	The plan discussed in Recommendation R should include a detailed proposal including financing sources, for the installation within 15 years of a high- pressure, multi-sourced, seismically safe emergency water system for those parts o the City that don't currently have one, i.e., by no later than June 30, 2034.	Chief Resilience Officer, Office of the City Administrator	Requires further analysis	The commitment of sources for specific uses on specific timelines for San Francisco's public infrastructure is the work of the 10-year Capital Plan. The plan discussed in Recommendation 1 will be acknowledged in the Capital Plan, and based on analysis, will be done on the capital plan timeline. The capital planning process gathers, documents, and balances planned funding for needs across the public infrastructure portfolio and across San Francisco's resilience challenges. The Capital Plan has longstanding funding principles to guide the prioritization of public infrastructure investments. These investments are tiered. (1) address legal and/or regulatory mandates: (2) ensure public safety and enhance resilience: (3) preserve assets and promote sustainability: (4) advance planned and programmatic needs: and (5) promote economic development. In the next 10-Year Capital Plan and those that follow, the City will continue to analyze prioriting to entirely funding a single program out of context and without regard for the trade-offs of that commitment would be out of step with the City's longstanding and highly regarded capital planning process and likely create significant vulnerabilities elsewhere in the portfolio.	Requires Further Analysis	The commitment of sources for specific uses on specific timelines for San Francisco's public infrastructure is the work of the 10-Year Capital Plan. The plan discussed in Recommendation 1 will be acknowledged in the Capital Plan, and based on analysis, will be done on the capital plan timeline. The capital planning process gathers, documents, and balances planned funding for needs across the public infrastructure portholic and across San Francisco's resilience challenges. The Capital Plan has longstanding funding principles to guide the princitization of public infrastructure investments. These investments are tiered; (1) address legal and/or regulatory mandates; (2) ensure public safety and enhance resilience; (3) preserve assets and promote economic development. In the next 10-Year Capital Plan and those that follow, the clip will continue to analyze priority projects and programs and identify sources to advance those priorities. Committing to entirely funding a single program out of context and without regard for the trade-offs of that commitment would be out of step with the City's longstanding and highly regarded capital planning process and likely create significant vulnerabilities elsewhere in the portfolio.	Will Not Be Implemented	The commitment of sources for specific uses on specific timelines for San Francisco's public infrastructure is the work of the 10-Year Capital Plan. The plan discussed in Recommendation 1 will be acknowledged in the Capital Plan, and based on analysis, will be done on the capital plan timeline. The capital planning process gathers, documents, and balances planned funding for needs across the public infrastructure portfolio and across San Francisco's resilience chalenges. The Capital Plan has longstanding funding principles to guide the prioritization of public infrastructure investments. These investments are tiered: (1) address legal and/or regulatory mandates; (2) ensure public safety and enhance resilience, including racial equity; (3) preserve assets and promote sustainability; (4) advance planned and programmatic needs; and (5) promote economic development. In the next 10-Year Capital Plan and those that follow, the City will continue to analyze priority projects and programs and identify sources to advance those priorities. Committing to entirely funding a single program out of context and without regard for the trade-offs of that commitment would be out of step with the City's longstanding and high regarded capital planning process and likely create significant vulnerabilities elsewhere in the portfolo.

	CGJ Year	Report Title [Publication Date]	Rec Number [for Finding Number	Recommendation	Response Required	Original 2019 Response	Original 2019 Response Text (provided by CGJ)	2020 Response ⁽¹⁾	2020 Response Text	2021 Response ⁽¹⁾	2021 Response Text
	2018-19	Act Now Before It Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019]	R8 [for F5, F6, F11]	By no later than June 30, 2022, the Mayor and the Board of Supervisors should analyze whether to propose a separate bond for the development of a high- pressure, multi-sourced, seismically safe emergency water system for those parts of the City that don't currently have one, with a target date of completing construction by no later than June 30, 2034.	Chief Resilience Officer, Office of the City Administrator	Will be implemented	The analysis will be performed as part of the City's 10-Year Capital Plan development process. The next full update to the Capital Plan will be submitted to the Mayor and Board not later than March 1, 2021, for approval no later than May 1, 2021.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	The analysis will be performed in response the detailed plan in Recommendation 1 and as a part of the City's 10-Year Capital Plan development process. Given that the study will be completed by Decomber 31, 2021, the consideration of a stand-alone bond will not occur until the FY 2023-2032 Capital Plan update. This update that will be complete by will be submitted to the Mayor and Board no later than March 1, 2022, for approval no later than May 1, 2022.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	The analysis will be performed in response to the detailed plan in Recommendation 1 and as a part of the City's 10 Year Capital Plan development process. Given that the study will be completed by December 31, 2021, the consideration of a stand-alone bond will not occur until the next Capital Plan update unless the Capital Planning Committee requests earlier action. This update will be submitted to the Mayor and Board no later than March 1, 2023, for approval no later than May 1, 2023.
	2018-19	Act Now Before It Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019]	R6 [for F8-F9]	The SFPUC, the SFFD and the SF Department of the Environment should study adding salt-water pump stations to improve the redundancy of water sources, sepecially on the west side. Findings and recommendations from this study should be presented to the Board of Supervisors by no later than June 30, 2021.	Director, San Francisco Department of the Environment	Will be implemented	SFPUC and SFFD will complete this study by June 30, 2021.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	SFPUC and SFFD will complete this study by June 30, 2021.	Recommendation Implemented	The Study was submitted to the Board of Supervisors on June 23, 2021. Please use this link to access the study: https://sforwisediata.com/ivew.sahr/M=F&ID=10378423&GUID=4942888E- SCE6-4A98-A9E5-504491CAC220
1	2018-19	Act Now Before It Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019]	R3 [for F1-F6]	The Board of Supervisors should direct the Budget and Legislaive Analyst to study through an equity lens and issue a report the Board regarding (a) which areas of the City do not have sufficient water supples for the articipated demand for water to fight fires following a major earthquake similar in magnitude to the 1905 earthquake, and (b) options to address the issue in both the short term and the long term. The Board should issue its request by no later than December 31, 2019, and the Budget and Legislative Analyst should complete its report by no later than December 31, 2020.	Budget and Legislative Analyst Office, Board of Supervisors	Will be implemented	Has not been implemented but will be implemented in the future, and Supervisor Cordon Mar will issue a request for a Budget and Legislative Analyst report no later than December 31, 2019, and will direct the Budget and Legislative Analyst to issue the completed report no later than December 31, 2020.	Recommendation Implemented	Has been implemented. The Board of Supervisors requested that the BLA report on this issue through Resolution No. 484-19, approved on November 27, 2019. The GAO committee may meet on December 3, 2020, and update its response to this recommendation.		
	2018-19	Act Now Before It Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019]	R1 [for F1-F6]	By no later than December 31, 2020, the Mayor, the SFPUC, the SFFD, and the Office of Resillence and Capital Planning should jointly present to the Board of Supervisors a detailed plan to ensure the City is well prepared to fight fires in all parts of San Francisco in the event of a 1906-magnitude (7.8) earthquake.	Board of Supervisors	Will be implemented	Has not been implemented but will be implemented no later than December 31, 2021, and urges the Mayor, the SFPUC, the SFFD, and Office of Resilience and Capital Planning to jointly present a detailed plan to the Board of Supervisors by no later than December 31, 2021.	Recommendation Implemented	The SFPUC, SFFD and ORCP jointly presented a report on July 16, 2020. The GAO committee may meet on December 3, 2020, and update its response to this recommendation.	•	
	2018-19	Act Now Before It Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019]	R2 [for F1-F6]	The plan discussed in Recommendation R1 should include a detailed proposal, including financing sources, for the installation within 15 years of a high- pressure, multi-sourced, seismically safe emergency water system for those parts of the City that don't currently have one, i.e., by no later than June 30, 2034.	Board of Supervisors	Will be implemented	Has not been implemented but will be implemented by December 31, 2021, and urges the Departments to include in its detailed plan a detailed proposal, including financing sources, for the installation within 15 years of a high-pressure, multi-sourced, seismically safe emergency water system for those parts of the City that don't currently have one by no later than June 30, 2034.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	The GAO committee may meet on December 3, 2020, and update its response to this recommendation.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	The GAO committee held follow-up hearings on January 21 and November 18, 2021. The Budget and Legislative Analysis submitted a policy analysis report to the file on November 18, 2021. GAO may update and close-out its response to this recommendation during a regular meeting in early 2022.
3	2018-19	Act Now Before It is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Erhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019]	R3 [for F1-F6]	The Board of Supervisors should direct the Budget and Legislative Analyst to study through an equity lens and issue a report to the Board regarding (a) which areas of the City do not have sufficient vaters supplies for the anticipated demand for water to fight fires following a major earthquake similar in magnitude to the 1906 earthquake, and (b) options to address the issue in both the short term and the long term. The Board should issue its request by no later than December 31, 2019, and the Budget and Legislative Analyst should complete its report by no later than December 31, 2020.	Board of Supervisors	Will be implemented	Has not been implemented but will be implemented in the future, and Supervisor Gordon Mar will issue a request for a Budget and Legislative Analyst report no later than December 31, 2019, and will direct the Budget and Legislative Analyst to issue the completed report no later than December 31, 2020.	Recommendation	Has been implemented. The Board of Supervisors requested that the BLA report on this issue through Resolution No. 484-19, approved on November 27, 2019. The GAO committee may meet on December 3, 2020, and update its response to this recommendation.	••	
	2018-19	Act Now Before It Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019]	R8 [for F5, F6, F11]	By no later than June 30, 2022, the Mayor and the Board of Supervisors should analyze whether to propose a separate bond for the development of a high- pressure, multi-sourced, seismically safe emergency water system for those parts of the City that don't currently have one, with a target date of completing construction by no later than June 30, 2034.	Board of Supervisors	Will be implemented	Has not been implemented but will be implemented in the future, and will analyze by June 30, 2022, in coordination with the Mayor, whether to propose a separate bond for the development of a high-pressure, multi- sourced, seismically safe emergency water system for those parts of the City that don't currently have one, with a target date of completing construction by no later than June 30, 2034.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	The GAO committee may meet on December 3, 2020, and update its response to this recommendation.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	The GAD committee held follow-up hearings on January 21 and November 18, 2021. The Budget and Legislative Analyst submitted a policy analysis report to the file on November 18, 2021. GAO may update and close-out its response to this recommendation during a regular meeting in early 2022.

	CGJ Year	Report Title [Publication Date]	Rec Number [for Finding Number]	Recommendation	Response Required	Original 2019 Response	Original 2019 Response Text (provided by CGJ)	2020 Response ⁽¹⁾	2020 Response Text	2021 Response ⁽¹⁾	2021 Response Text
20	018-19	Act Now Before It Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019]	R4 [for F6-F7]	As interim measure, by no later than June 30, 2021, the City should purchase the 20 new PWSS hose tenders being requested by the SFFD, to replace and expand its currently inadequate inventory.	Board of Supervisors	Will not be implemented	Will not be implemented because while funding for five hose tenders was allocated for FY2019-2020 though both local and state-level actions, implementation of the recommendation in its entirely will depend on the appropriation actions of a future Mayor and Board of Supervisors.	**		**	
20	018-19	Act Now Before It Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019]	R6 [for F8-F9]	The SFPUC, the SFFD and the SF Department of the Environment should study adding salt-water pump stations to improve the redundancy of water sources, especially on the west side. Findings and recommendations from this study should be presented to the Board of Supervisors by no later than June 30, 2021.	Board of Supervisors	Will be implemented	Has not been implemented but will be implemented in the future, and urges the completion of a study for adding a salt-water pump stations to be presented to the Board of Supervisors by no later than June 30, 2021.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	The GAO committee may meet on December 3, 2020, and update its response to this recommendation.	Recommendation Implemented	The SFPUC submitted a study to address this recommendation on June 7, 2021.
20	018-19	Act Now Before It Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019]	R7 [for F10]	The SFPUC should (a) continue its efforts to complete a more detailed analysis of emergency firefighting water needs (including above-the-median needs) by neighborhood, and ho just by FRA, and (b) presert a completed analysis to the Board of Supervisors by no later than June 30, 2021.	Board of Supervisors	Will be implemented	Has not been implemented but will be implemented in the future, and urges that a completed analysis be presented to the Board of Supervisors by no later than June 30, 2021.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	The GAO committee may meet on December 3, 2020, and update its response to this recommendation.	Recommendation Implemented	The SFPUC submitted a study to address this recommendation on June 7, 2021.
20	018-19	Act Now Before It Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019]	R1 [for F1-F6]	By no later than December 31, 2020, the Mayor, the SFPUC, the SFFD, and the Office of Resilience and Capital Planning should jointly present to the Board of Supervisors a detailed plan to ensure the City is well prepared to fight fires in all parts of San Francisco in the event of a 1906-magnitude (7.8) earthquake.	President, San Francisco Public Utilities Commission	Will be implemented	Ensuring that San Francisco has the infrastructure and resources to be well prepared to fight fires in all parts of San Francisco is something that will be a focus of the next 10-Year Capital Plan. Per Administrative Code 3 20, that Plan must be submitted to the Mayor and Board no later than March 1 of each odd-numbered year for approval no later than May 1. The requested presentation would be delivered as part of that Plan's submission to enable holisci planning across San Francisco's resilience challenges. Updates available on this timeline would be included. The City cannot discuss the project and timeline until the ESER 2020 plan passes. For this reason, the City will sync this recommendation with the Capital Plan, and push back the timeline to December 31, 2021.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	Ensuring that San Francisco has the infrastructure and resources to be well prepared to fight fires in all parts of San Francisco is something that will be a focus of the next 10 Year Capital Plan. Per Administrative Code 3.20, that Plan must be submitted to the Mayor and Board no later than March 1 of each odd-numbered year for approval no later than May 1. The requested presentation would be delivered as part of that Plan's submission to enable holistic planning across San Francisco's resilience chalenges. Updates available on this timeline would be included. For this reason, the City will sync this recommendation with the Capital Plan, and push back the timeline to December 31, 2021.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	The SFPUC, the SFFD, and the Office of Resilience and Capital Planning are actively coordinating to submit this Citywide Plan to the Board of Supervisors by December 31, 2021. The report will also be heard at the Capital Planning Committee and its recommendations considered for the FY 2024-2033 Capital Plan or an off-year capital plan update if the Capital Planning Committee desires.
20	018-19	Act Now Before It Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019]	R2 [for F1-F6]	The plan discussed in Recommendation RT should include a detailed proposal, including financing sources, for the installation within 15 years of a high- pressure, multi-sourced, seismically safe emergency water system for those parts of the City that don't currently have one, i.e., by no later than June 30, 2034.	President, San Francisco Public Utilities Commission	Requires further analysis	The commitment of sources for specific uses on specific timelines for San Francisco's public infrastructure is the work of the 10-year Capital Plan. The plan discussed in Recommendation 1 will be acknowledged in the Capital Plan, and based on analysis, will be done on the capital plan timeline. The capital planning process gathers, documents, and balances planned funding principles to guide the prioritization of public infrastructure investments. These investments are litered. (1) address legal and/or regulatory mandates: (2) ensure public safety and enhance resilience; (3) preserve assets and promote sustainability; (4) advance planned tanding principles capital Plan has to analyze priority projects and programma di needs; and (5) promote economic development. In the next 10-Year Capital Plan and those that follow, the City will continue to analyze priority projects and programs and indentify sources to advance those priorities. Commiting to entirely funding a single program out of context and without regard for the trade-dist of that commitment would be out of step with the City's longstanding and highly regarded capital planning process and likely create significant vulnerabilities elsewhere in the portfolio.	Requires Further Analysis	The commitment of sources for specific uses on specific timelines for San Francisco's public infrastructure is the work of the 10-year Capital Plan. The plan discussed in Recommendation 1 will be acknowledged in the Capital Plan, and based on analysis, will be done on the capital plan timeline. The capital planning process gathers, documents, and balances planned funding principles to guide the printization of public infrastructure investments. These investments are tiered: (1) address legal and/or regulatory mandates; (2) ensure public asfety and enhance resilence; (3) preserve assets and promote sustainability. (4) advance planned funding orniciples (3), and (4) advance legal and/or regulatory mandates; (2) ensure public asfety and enhance resilence; (3) preserve assets and promote economic development. In the next 10-Year Capital Plan and those that follow, the City will continue to analyze priority projects and programs and identify sources to advance those priorities. Committing to entirely funding a single program out of context and without regard for the trade-offs of that commitment would be out of step with the City's longstanding and highly regarded capital planning process and likely create significant wuherabilities elsewhere in the portfolio.	Will Not Be Implemented	The commitment of sources for specific uses on specific timelines for San Francisco's public infrastructure is the work of the 10-Year Capital Plan. The plan discussed in Recommendation 1 will be acknowledged in the Capital Plan, and based on analysis, will be done on the capital plan timeline. The capital planning process gathers, documents, and balances planned funding for needs across the public infrastructure portfolio and across San Francisco's resilience challenges. The Capital Plan has longstanding funding principles to guide the prioritization of public infrastructure investments. These investments are tiered: (1) address legal and/or regulatory mandates; (2) ensure public safety and enhance resilience, <i>including racial equity</i> ; (3) preserve assets and promote sustainability; (4) advance planned and programmatic needs; and (5) promote economic development. In the next 10-Year Capital Plan and those that follow; the City will continue to analyze priority projects and programs and identify sources to advance those priorities. Committing on thirdy regarded capital planning process and likely create significant vulnerabilities elsewhere in the portfolio.
20	018-19	Act Now Before It Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019]	R6 [for F8-F9]	The SFPUC, the SFFD and the SF Department of the Environment should study adding sait-water pump stations to improve the redundancy of water sources, especially on the vest side. Findings and recommendations from this study should be presented to the Board of Supervisors by no later than June 30, 2021.	President, San Francisco Public Utilities Commission	Will be implemented	SFPUC and SFFD will complete this study by June 30, 2021.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	SFPUC and SFFD will complete this study by June 30, 2021.	Recommendation Implemented	The Study was submitted to the Board of Supervisors on June 23, 2021. Please use this link to access the study: https://stouv.legistar.com/fwasabit/MF=FAID=10378423&GUID=49428B8E- 5CE5-4A98-A9E5-564491CAC220
20	018-19	Act Nw Before It Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019]	R7 [for F10]	The SFPUC should (a) continue its efforts to complete a more detailed analysis of emergency firefighting water needs (including above-the-median needs) by neighborhood, and not just by FRA, and (b) presert a completed analysis to the Board of Supervisors by no later than June 30, 2021.	President, San Francisco Public Utilities Commission	Will be implemented	SFPUC and SFFD will complete this analysis by June 30, 2021.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	SFPUC and SFFD will complete this study by June 30, 2021.	Recommendation Implemented	The Study was submitted to the Board of Supervisors on June 23, 2021. Please use this link to access the study: <u>https://sforv.legistar.com/Vew.asth/?M=F&ID=10378423&GUID=4942888E- 5CE6-4A08-A0E5-564491CAC220</u>
20	018-19	Act Now Before It Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019]	R9 [for F12]	By no later than December 31, 2020 the SFPUC, with the advice and subject to the approval of the SFFD, should (a) implement 'best practices' for the maintenance of AWSS assels, and (b) redefine which AWSS valves in the system are 'critical', and, therefore, require more attention and priority in the SFPUC's maintenance plans.	President, San Francisco t Public Utilities Commission	Has been implemented	(a) SFPUC implements "best practices" for the maintenance of AWSS assets in collaboration with SFPD, and consistent with the terms of the Memorandum of Understanding Regarding Operation and Maintenance of San Francisco Water Supply Systems Related to Fire Suppression (MOU), SFPUC will seek SFPD's written approval for "any modifications that could compromise" the system's function as a high pressure firefighting system (MOU, page 2). (b) The AWSS critical valves have been identified and will be exercised every year through the AWSS Critical Valve Exercise Program.			**	

	CGJ Year	Report Title	Rec Number	Recommendation	Response Required	Original 2019 Response	Original 2019 Response Text (provided by CGJ)	2020 Response ⁽¹⁾	2020 Response Text	2021 Response ⁽¹⁾	2021 Response Text
20	18-19	Act Now Before It IS Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019]	R10 [for F13]	By no later than June 30, 2020, the 2015 MOU between the SFPUC and the SFFD should be amended to include a detailed roadmap for annual emergency response exercises, including simulated disaster and earthquake drills involving the AWSS and the PWSS.	President, San Francisco Public Utilities Commission	Will be implemented	SFFD and SFPUC will work together to amend the MOU by June 30, 2020.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	Due to shifting priorities of staff due to the COVID-19 Pandemic, the amendments to the MOU are delayed. SFPUC and SFFD are actively working on the amendments and expect to have them finalized by June 30, 2021. However, SFPUC and SFFD already agreed to a new and increased trainings and drills and are actively completing these activities.	Recommendation Implemented	The SFPUC and SFFD finalized the Amended and Restated MOU in August 2021. The Amended and Restated MOU was executed on August 19, 2021, when it was signed by the Chief of SFFD and the Acting General Manager of the SFPUC.
20	18-19	Act Now Before It Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019]	R1 [for F1-F6]	By no later than December 31, 2020, the Mayor, the SFPUC, the SFPL, and the Office of Resilience and Capital Planning should jointly present to the Board of Supervisors a detailed pant or ensure the City is well prepared to fight fires in all parts of San Francisco in the event of a 1906-magnitude (7.8) earthquake.	President, San Francisco Fire Commission	Will be implemented	Ensuring that San Francisco has the infrastructure and resources to be we prepared to fight fires in all parts of San Francisco is something that will be a focus of the next 10-Year Capital Plan. Per Administrative Code 3.20, that Plan must be submitted to the Mayor and Board no later than March 10 each odd-numbered year for approval no later than May 1. The requested presentation would be deviced as part of that Plan's submitted to enable holistic planning across San Francisco's resilience challenges. Updates available on this timeline would be included. The City cannot discuss the project and timeline until the ESER 2020 plan passes. For this reason, the City will sync this recommendation with the Capital Plan, and push back the timeline to December 31, 2021.	II Will Be Implemented in the Future	Ensuring that San Francisco has the infrastructure and resources to be well prepared to fight free in all parts of San Francisco is sorresthing that will be a focus of the next 10-Year Capital Plan. Per Administrative Code 3.20, that Plan must be submitted to the Mayor and Board no later tham March 1 of each odd-numbered year for approval no later tham May 1. The requested presentation would be delivered as part of that Plan's submission to enable holistic planning across San Francisco's resilence chalenges. Updates available on this timeline would be included. Now that the ESER 2020 bond has passed, the City can begin to plan with greater specificity. As indicated in the 2019 response, the City will sync this recommendation with the Capital Plan, and push back the timeline to December 31, 2021.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	The SFPUC, the SFFD, and the Office of Resilence and Capital Planning are actively coordinating to submit this Citywide Plan to the Board of Supervisors by December 31, 2021. The report will also be heard at the Capital Planning Committee and its recommendations considered for the FY 2024-2033 Capital Plan or an off-year capital plan update if the Capital Planning Committee desires.
20	18-19	Act Now Before It Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019]	R2 [for F1-F6]	The plan discussed in Recommendation R1 should include a detailed proposal, including financing sources, for the installation within 15 years of a high- pressure, multi-sourced, seismically safe emergency water system for those parts of the C1ty that don't currently have one, i.e., by no later than June 30, 2034.	President, San Francisco Fire Commission	Requires further analysis	The commitment of sources for specific uses on specific timelines for San Francisco's public infrastructure is the work of the 10-Year Capital Plan. The plan discussed in Recommediation 1 will be acknowledged in the Capital Plan, and based on analysis, will be done on the capital plan timeline. The capital planning process gathers, The Capital Plan A sources San Francisco's resilience challenges. The Capital Plan has longstanding funding principles to guide the prioritization of public infrastructure postform and the prioritization of public infrastructure preserve assets and promote sustainability (4) advance planned and programmatic needs; and (5) promote economic development. In the next 10-Year Capital Plan and those that follow, the City will continue to analyze priority projects and programs and identify sources to advance those pointies. Committing to entirely funding a single program out of context and without regraf for the trade-offs of that commitment would be out of step with the City's longstanding and highly regarded capital planning profesion.	Requires Further Analysis	The commitment of sources for specific uses on specific timelines for San Francisco's public infrastructure is the work of the 10-Year Capital Plan. The plan discussed in Recommendation I'will be achrowedged in the Capital Plan, and based on analysis, will be done on the capital plan timeline. The capital planning process gathers, bodies on the capital plan across San Francisco's resilience challenges. The Capital Plan has longstanding funding principles to guide the prioritization of public infrastructure investments. These investments are tiered: (1) address legal and/or regulatory mandates; (2) ensure public safety and enhance planned and programmatic needs; and (5) promote economic development. In the next 10-Year Capital Plan and those that follow, the City will continue to analyze priority projects and programs and identify sources to advance those priorities. Commiting to entirely funding a single program out of context and without regard for the trade-offs of that commitment would be out of step with the City's longstanding and highly regarded capital planning process and Rikey create significant wulnerabilities elsewhere in the portfolio.	Will Not Be Implemented: Not Warranted or Not Reasonable	The commitment of sources for specific uses on specific timelines for San Francisco's public infrastructure is the work of the 10-Year Capital Plan. The plan discussed in Recommendation 1 will be acknowledged in the Capital Plan. The plan discusses in Recommendation 1 will be acknowledged in the Capital Plan. The planning process gathers, documents, and balances planned fluiding for needs across the public infrastructure portfolio and across San Francisco's resilience challenges. The Capital Plan has longstanding funding principels to guide the prioritization of public infrastructure investments. These investments are tiered (1) address legal and/or regulatory mandates; (2) ensure public safety and enhance resilience, including racial equity; (3) preserve assets and promote sustainability; (4) advance planned and programmatic needs; and (5) promote economic development. In the next 10-Year Capital Plan and those that follow, the City will context and willhout regard for the trade-offs of that commitmer would be out of step with the City's longstanding and highly regarded capital planning process and likely create significant vulnerabilities elsewhere in the portfolio.
20	18-19	Act Now Before It Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019]	R5 [for F4]	The SFFD should strategically locate the majority of the PWSS hose tenders in areas that at present only have low- pressure hydrants and/or cisterns.	President, San Francisco Fire Commission	Will be implemented	The Department is currently finalizing specifications for these units, after which they will go out to bid through the City's procurement processes before construction. It is anticipated the Department will take receipt of these units in the second half of 2020/early 2021. These hose tenders are a heavy-duty apparatus designed to be able to be deployed and moved throughout the City depending on need, giving the Department needed operational flexibility in its response.	Recommendation Implemented	The Department currently has the hose tender specifications out to bid with the City's Office of Contract Administration, with proposals due in late November/ant/ December 2020. These hose tenders are a heavy- duty apparatus designed to be able to be deployed and moved throughout the City depending on need, giving the Department needed operational flexibility in its response.	**	
20	18-19	Act Now Before It Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019]	R4 [for F6-F7]	As interim measure, by no later than June 30, 2021, the City should purchase the 20 new PWSS hose tenders being requested by the SFFD, to replace and expand its currently inadequate inventory.	President, San Francisco Fire Commission	Requires further analysis	The Fire Department has been allocated funding to purchase five units through finds from the Y19-20 City budget and an allocation from the State. The Department is currently working with the Office of Contract Administration to develop a multi-year term contract for hose tenders so in the case that additional funding is secured in future years, the Department will be able to reduce the amount of time for procurement of the apparatus. Each hose tender cost \$1 million each, and we need to weigh purchase of additional hose tenders to other budget request and priority.	Will Not Be Implemented: Not Warranted or Not Reasonable	The Fire Department was previously allocated funding to purchase a projected five units through a combination of funds from the FY19-20 City budget and an allocation from the State. However, given the City's economic realities as a result of the COVID pandemic, funding for two of these units was reduced from the Department's budget in order to help balance the City's budget deficit. The Department's budget in order to help balance the City's budget deficit. The Department's budget in order to help purchase of these units and is looking to develop a multi-year term contract for hose tenders in the case that additional funding is secured in future years. Each hose tender sott \$1 million each, and we need to weigh purchase of additional hose tenders to other budget requests and priorities.		
20	18-19	Act Now Before It Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019]	R6 [for F8-F9]	The SFPUC, the SFFD and the SF Department of the Environment should study adding salk-water pump stations to improve the redundancy of valente rources, environment adding and the study should be recommendations from this study should be presented to the Board of Supervisors by no later than June 30, 2021.	President, San Francisco Fire Commission	Will be implemented	SFPUC and SFFD will complete this study by June 30, 2021.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	SFPUC and SFFD will complete this analysis by June 30, 2021.	Recommendation Implemented	The Study was submitted to the Board of Supervisors on June 23, 2021. Please use this link to access the study: https://sfoor.legiatar.com/View.ashc?hi=F&ID=10378423&GUID=49428B8E- 5CEG-4A88-A9E5-554491CAC220
20	18-19	Act Now Before It Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019]	R9 [for F12]	By no later than December 31, 2020 the SFPUC, with the advice and subject to the approval of the SFFD, should (a) implemen "best practices" for the maintenance of AWSS assets, and (b) redeline which AWSS valves in the system are "critical", and, therefore, require more attention and priority in the SFPUC's maintenance plans.	President, San Francisco Fire t Commission	Has been implemented	(a) SFPUC implements 'best practices' for the maintenance of AWSS assets in collaboration with SFPU, and consistent with the terms of the Memorandum of Understanding Regarding Operation and Maintenance of San Francisco Water Supply Systems Related to Firs Suppression (MOU), SFPUC will seek SFPU's seek SFPU's will seek SFPU's seek SFPU's will				

CGJ Year	Report Title [Publication Date]	Rec Number [for Finding Number]	Recommendation	Response Required	Original 2019 Response	Original 2019 Response Text (provided by CGJ)	2020 Response ⁽¹⁾	2020 Response Text	2021 Response ⁽¹⁾	2021 Response Text
2018-19	Act Now Before It Is Too Late: Aggressively Expand and Enhance Our High-Pressure Emergency Firefighting Water System [July 17, 2019]	R10 [for F13]	By no later than June 30, 2020, the 2015 MOU between the SFPUC and the SFFD should be amended to include a detailed roadmap for annual emergency response exercises, including simulated disaster and earthquake drills involving the AWSS and the PWSS.	President, San Francisco Fire Commission	Will be implemented	The Fire Department conducts weekly hose/hose tender drills that it rotates through companies throughout the City. The Fire Department will work with the SFPUC to have them in attendance and participate in these drills. SFFD will also commit to working with the PUC to enhance the scope and frequency of trainings in the future for improved collaboration. SFFD and SFPUC will work together to amend the MOU by June 30, 2020.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	Due to shifting priorities of staff due to the COVID-19 Pandemic, the amendments to the MOU are delayed. SFPUC and SFFD are actively working on the amendments and expect to have them finalized by June 30, 2021. However, SFPUC and SFFD already agreed to a new and increased trainings and drills and are actively completing these activities.	Recommendation Implemented	The SFPUC and SFFD finalized the Amended and Restated MOU in August 2021. The Amended and Restated MOU was executed on August 19, 2021, when it was signed by the Chief of SFFD and the Acting General Manager of the SFPUC.
2018-19	Joint Terrorism Task Force: Balancing Public Safety with Civil Rights [July 17, 2019]	R1	The Mayor and the Chief of Poice should decide if rejoining the JTTF is in the best interest of the residents of our City and make this publicly known by February 3, 2020.	Mayor	Will be implemented	The decision to rejoin the JTTF would include not only the Mayor and Polico Department, but also the Polico Commission and the FBI. Given the extended timelines associated with policy development, public input, the potential creation of Working Groups and discussions with the FBI, the deadine associated with this recommendation is unreasonable. However, the department will explore rejoining the JTTE and If there is a decision to rejoin, the Mayor, SFPD and the Police Commission plan to take a thoughtful and thorough approach that considers the input of the SF community.	e Will Not Be Implemented: Not Warranted or Not Reasonable	The Department did not decide to rejoin JTTF on or before February 3, 2020. The department will explore rejoining the JTTF and if there is a decision to rejoin, the Mayor, SFPD and the Police Commission plan to take a thoughtful and thorough approach that considers the input of the SF community.	**	
2018-19	Joint Terrorism Task Force: Balancing Public Safety with Civil Rights [July 17, 2019]	R2	In the event that the Mayor and Chief of Police decide to re-join the JTTF, the Chief of Police should negotiate a revised MOU with the FBI and submit this to the PC for discussion and public comment at an open meeting. This should be done no later than July 1, 2020.	Mayor	Will be implemented	Given the extended timelines associated with policy development and policy approval within the police department, the deadline associated with this recommendation is unreasonable. However the department will explore the potential of negotiating an MOU with the FBI and will submit to the Police Commission for review when it is appropriate to do so.	Will Not Be Implemented: Not Warranted or Not Reasonable	As the Department has not rejoined JTTF, the MOU with the FBI was not renegotiated nor was it put in front of the Police Commission for discussion and public comment on or before July 1, 2020.	**	
2018-19	Joint Terrorism Task Force: Balancing Public Safety with Civil Rights [July 17, 2019]	R1	The Mayor and the Chief of Poice should decide if rejoining the JTT is in the best interest of the residents of our City and make this publicly known by February 3, 2020.	Chief, San Francisco Police Department	Will be implemented	The decision to rejoin the JTTF would include not only the Mayor and Polic Department, but also the Police Commission and the FBI. Given the extended timelines associated with policy development, public input, the potential creation of Working Groups and discussions with the FBI, the deadline associated with this recommendation is unreasonable. However, the department will explore rejoining the JTTF and If there is a decision to rejoin, the Mayor, SFPD and the Police Commission plan to take a thoughtful and thorough approach that considers the input of the SF community.	e Will Not Be Implemented: Not Warranted or Not Reasonable	The Department did not decide to rejoin JTTF on or before February 3, 2020. The department will explore rejoining the JTTF and if there is a decision to rejoin, the Mayor, SFPD and the Police Commission plan to take a thoughtful and thorough approach that considers the input of the SF community.	**	
2018-19	Joint Terrorism Task Force: Balancing Public Safety with Civil Rights [July 17, 2019]	R2	In the event that the Mayor and Chief of Polce decide to re-join the JTTF, the Chief of Polce should negotiate a revised MOU with the FBI and submit this to the PC for discussion and public comment at an open meeting. This should be done no later than July 1, 2020.	Chief, San f Francisco Police Department	Will be implemented	Given the extended timelines associated with policy development and policy approval within the police department, the deadine associated with this recommendation is unreasonable. However the department will explore the potential of negotiating an AMOU with the FBI and will submit to the Police Commission for review when it is appropriate to do so.	Will Not Be Implemented: Not Warranted or Not Reasonable	As the Department has not rejoined JTTF, the MOU with the FBI was not renegotiated nor was it put in front of the Police Commission for discussion and public comment on or before July 1, 2020.	**	
2018-19	Joint Terrorism Task Force: Balancing Public Safety with Civil Rights [July 17, 2019]	R4	The Chef of Police should instruct the WDU to expedite the revision process of DGO 8.10 immediately but no later than the first week of January 2020. The WDU in considering the revisions to DGO 8.10 should include a review of the R4a-f recommendations before submitting the revisions to the Chief of Police. The revised DGO should be forwarded to the PC for approval no later than July 1, 2020.	Chief, San Francisco Police Department	Will not be implemented because it is not warranted or reasonable	The Police Commission has previously approved the schedule for updating department DCoE based on DOL Colaborative Reform. DC0 & 810 is already scheduled for review and updates to begin in 2020. This recommendation would change the Police Commission schedule and change the typical process for DC0 drafting and revisions. Written Directives facilitates the concurrence process but is not solely responsible for revisions to any DC0. It is within the Police Commission's purview to create a working group to review and suggest content changes. Given the extended timelines associated with policy development, public input and policy approval within the police department, the deadline and process associated with this recommendation is unreasonable.	**			
2018-19	Joint Terrorism Task Force: Balancing Public Safely with Civil Rights [July 17, 2019]	R4-a	DGO 8.10 should be revised to eliminate the conflict that exists between the statement of principles only referencing the First Amendment rights guaranteed by the United States Constitution, but the term First Amendment Activity being defined as rights guaranteed by both the Constitution of the United States and the Constitution of that the statement of principal incorporate wording to be reflective of the protections provided to First Amendment activities by both the state and federal constitutions.	Chief, San Francisco Police Department	Will be implemented	Given the extended timelines associated with policy development within SFPD, the deadline associated with R4 and its sub-recommendations is unreasonable. The City Attorney's Office also indicated that there is a need to revise this section. The department agrees to review this recommendation during the DGO 8.10 update scheduled to begin in 2020.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	DGO 8.10 will be reviewed by a Police Commission working group in 2021. The Department will provide this recommendation to the Executive Sponsor of the working group. The implementation of this recommendation will be determined by the working group, the Department concurrence process and ultimately through a public vote at a future Commission Meeting.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	DGO 8.10 was not updated in 2021 and is now slated for update in 2022. The Department will provide this recommendation to the Subject Matter Expert (SME) who manages the DGO update. The implementation will ultimately be determined by SFPD leadership, the Police Commission at a public hearing an potentially modified through the meet and confer process.
2018-19	Joint Terrorism Task Force: Balancing Public Safety with Civil Rights [July 17, 2019]	R4-b	General Order 8.10 should be revised to correct the error in referencing 'Article 3' of the Constitution of California within the definition section to Article I, Section 3.	Chief, San Francisco Police Department	Will be implemented	Given the extended timelines associated with policy development within SFPD, the deadline associated with R4 and its sub-recommendations is unreasonable. The City Attorney's Office also indicated that there is a need to revise this section. The department agrees to review this recommendation during the DGO 8.10 update scheduled to begin in 2020.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	DGO 8.10 will be reviewed and updated by a Police Commission working group in 2021. The Department will provide this recommendation to the Executive Sponsor of the working group. The implementation of this recommendation will be determined by the working group, the Department concurrence process and ultimately through a public vote at a future Commission Meeting.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	DGO 8.10 was not updated in 2021 and is now slated for update in 2022. The Department will provide this recommendation to the Subject Matter Expert (SME) who manages the DGO update. The implementation will ultimately be determined by SFPD leadership, the Police Commission at a public hearing an potentially modified through the meet and confer process.

С	GJ	Report Title	Rec Number	Percommondation	Response	Original 2019	Original 2019 Response Text	2020	2020 Beapages Taxt	2021	2024 Bearance Text
Y	ear	[Publication Date]	[for Finding Number]	Recommendation	Required	Response	(provided by CGJ)	Response ⁽¹⁾	2020 Response Text	Response ⁽¹⁾	2021 Response Text
201	8-19	Joint Terrorism Task Force: Balancing Public Safety with Civil Rights July 17, 2019]	R4-c	General Order 8.10 should be revised to define the term Criminal Investigation. The order should clearly define what is and what is not a criminal investigation.	Chief, San Francisco Police Department	Will not be implemented because it is not warranted or reasonable	Given the extended timelines associated with policy development, the department cannot agree to forward an updated DGO 8.10 to the Police Commission for approval by July 3, 2020. The department agrees to review this recommendation during the DGO 8.10 update which is scheduled to begin in 2020. However, unlike the other Re recommendations, this cannot be implemented unliaterally. The inclusion or acceptance of any revised language is dependent on internal review, DPA review, public input/working group input, city attorney's office review and Police Commission approval and adoption.	••• 1			
201	8-19	Joint Terrorism Task Force: Balancing Public Safety with Civil Rights July 17, 2019]	R4-d	General Order 8.10 should be updated to incorporate changes that have occurred since 2008. Obsolete agency names and titles should be corrected. All references to the OCC should be changed to DPA and the Director of OCC should be corrected to the Executive Director of DPA.	Chief, San Francisco Police Department	Will be implemented	Given the extended timelines associated with policy development, the department cannot agree to forward an updated DGO 8.10 to the Police Cormission by July 3, 2020. The department will recommend updating all references to OCC by using the current department name and terminology.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	DGO 8 in 2021. The Department will provide this recommendation to the Executive Sponsor of the working group. The implementation of this recommendation will be determined by the working group, the Department concurrence process and ultimately through a public vote at a future Commission Meeting.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	DGO 8.10 was not updated in 2021 and is now slated for update in 2022. The Department will provide this recommendation to the Subject Matter Expert (SME) who manages the DGO update. The Department agrees that all Department names and titles referenced in the DGO should be updated.
201	8-19	Joint Terrorism Task Force: Balancing Public Safety with Civil Rights July 17, 2019]	R4-e	The use d' department' should be specific to which one it is referencing (SFPD or DPA).	Chief, San Francisco Police Department	Will be implemented	Given the extended timelines associated with policy development, the department cannot agree to forward an updated DSQ 8.10 to the Police Commission by July 3, 2020. SFPD agrees that this update can be addressed by introducing the abbreviation in long and short form by revising Section IA of DGO 8.10 to: "I is the policy of the San Francisco Police Department",*	Will Be Implemented in the Future	DG0.8.10 will be reviewed and updated by a Police Commission working group in 2021. The Department will provide this recommendation to the Executive Sponsor of the working group. The implementation of this recommendation will be determined by the working group. The Department concurrence process and ultimately through a public vote at a future Commission Meeting.	Will Not Be Implemented: Not Warranted or Not Reasonable	DGO 8.10 was not updated in 2021 and is now slated for update in 2022. The Department will provide this recommendation to the Subject Matter Expert (SME) for consideration, however, the use of the term 'department' throughout each SFPD DGO always refers to SFPD as DGSo only have authority over SFPD members. DPA (formerly known as OCC) is not required to comply to SFPD DGOs and is not referred to as "department" when mentioned in DGO 8.10.
201	8-19	Joint Terrorism Task Force: Balancing Public Safety with Civil Rights July 17, 2019]	R4-f	DG0 8.10 should contain only material that is necessary and pertinent to the functions of SFPD. All material that is unrelated to the SFPD should be removed from DGO 8.10.	t Chief, San Francisco Police Department	Will not be implemented because it is not warranted or reasonable	Given the extended timelines associated with policy development, the department cannot agree to forward an updated DGO 8.10 to the Police Commission by July 3, 2020. The department agrees that each SFPD DGO should only contain directives that are necessary and pertinent to the functions of SFPD and its own members. However, unlike the other R4 recommendations, this cannot be implemented unliketraily. Removing material that may be unrelated to SFPD member's duties and responsibilities would require an action on the part of the Police Commission.	••			
201	8-19	Joint Terrorism Task Force: Balancing Public Safety with Civil Rights July 17, 2019]	R2	In the event that the Mayor and Chief of Police decide to re-join the JTTF, the Chief of Police should negotiate a revised MOU with the FBI and submit this to the PC for discussion and public comment at an open meeting. This should be done no later than July 1, 2020.	President, San Francisco Police Commission		I will not seek to implement this Recommendation. Any revision to the MOU between the SFPD and the FBI should involve a working orgour composed of interested stakeholders, as was the case in 2016-2017. The SFPD Chie and FBI cannot merely negotiate a new agreement. The issues are serious, the public interest high, and the process anduous. Any revision of the expired MOU will take longer than the proposed July 2020 deadline allows.	f,		**	
201	8-19	Joint Terrorism Task Force: Balancing Public Safety with Civil Rights [July 17, 2019]	R3	The President of the PC should designate a commissioner as a point of contact for al JTTF interested parties. This appointment should be completed by April 3, 2020.	President, San Francisco Police Commission	Has been implemented	Recommendation has been implemented. The current President of the Commission is the designated point person for JTTF matters.	**		**	
201	8-19	Joint Terrorism Task Force: Balancing Public Safety with Civil Rights July 17, 2019]	R4	The Chef of Police should instruct the WDU to expedite the revision process of DOG 8.10 immediately but no later than the first week of January 2020. The WDU in considering the revisions to DOG 8.10 should include a review of the R4a-f recommendations before submitting the revisions to the Chief of Police. The revised DGO should be forwarded to the PC for approval no later than July 1, 2020.	President, San Francisco Police Commission		I will not seek to implement this Recommendation. The procedure outlined by the Civil Grand Jury is incorrect. Written Directives is not tasked with rewriting DGO 8.10. A working group composed of interested stakeholders must participate in any revision process relative to this DGO, as the issues are significant and divergent veryonits and ideas enhance any effort to recreate an MCU between the SFPD and FBI. The timeframe offered by the Civil Grand Jury for completing any revision effort is unrealistically aggressive. The Police Commission is developing a five-year schedule for reviewing and revising all SFPD's General Orders including DGO 8.10. That DGO is stated for review in 2020.	• • • •		••	
201	8-19	Joint Terrorism Task Force: Balancing Public Safety with Civil Rights July 17, 2019]	R4-a	DG0.8.10 should be revised to eliminate the conflict that exists between the statement of principles only referencing the First Amendment rights guaranteed by the United States Constitution, but the term First Amendment Activity being defined as rights guaranteed by both the Constitution of the United States and the Constitution of the State of California. It is recommended that the statement of principal incorporate wording to be reflective of the protections provided to First Amendment activities by both the state and federal constitutions.	President, San Francisco Police Commission		I will seek to implement this Recommendation so that the preamble of DCO 8.10 is consistent with the body of that document, which references the California Constitution as well as the U.S. Constitution. Changes to DGO 8.10 will be made in accordance with the Police Commission's schedule for reviewing DGOs.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	I will seek to implement this Recommendation so that the preamble of DGO 8.10 is consistent with the body of that document, which references the California Constitution as well as the U.S. Constitution. Revisions to DGO 8.10 are scheduled to begin in 2021.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	I will seek to implement this Recommendation so that the preamble of DGO 8.10 is consistent with the body of that document, which references the California Constitution as well as the U.S. Constitution. DPA is currently conducting an audit of DGO 8.10. Once the audit is complete, the police department will review DPA's findings and begin the revision.
201	8-19	Joint Terrorism Task Force: Balancing Public Safety with Civil Rights July 17, 2019]	R4-b	General Order 8.10 should be revised to correct the error in referencing "Article 3" of the Constitution of California within the definition section to Article I, Section 3.	President, San Francisco Police Commission		I will seek to implement this Recommendation. Changes to DGO 8.10 will be made in accordance with the Police Commission's schedule for reviewing DGOs.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	I will seek to implement this Recommendation. Revisions to DGO 8.10 are scheduled to begin in 2021.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	I will seek to implement this Recommendation. DPA is currently conducting an audit of DGA 51.0. Once the audit is complete, the police department will review DPAs findings and begin the revision.

	CGJ Year	Report Title [Publication Date]	Rec Number [for Finding Number	Recommendation	Response Required	Original 2019 Response	Original 2019 Response Text (provided by CGJ)	2020 Response ⁽¹⁾	2020 Response Text	2021 Response ⁽¹⁾	2021 Response Text
2	2018-19	Joint Terrorism Task Force: Balancing Public Safety with Civil Rights [July 17, 2019]	R4-c	General Order 8.10 should be revised to define the term "Criminal Investigation". The order should clearly define what is and what is not a criminal investigation.	President, San Francisco Police Commission		I will not seek to implement this Recommendation. The term "criminal investigation" is understood by the law enforcement community and civilians alike. It is clear from DGO 8:10 that SFPD officers can participate in investigations of criminal activity where reasonable suspicion exists.	**		**	
4	018-19	Joint Terrorism Task Force: Balancing Public Safety with Civil Rights [July 17, 2019]	R4-d	General Order 8.10 should be updated to incorporate changes that have occurred since 2008. Obsolete agency names and titles should be corrected. All references to the OCC should be changed to DPA and the Director of OCC should be corrected to the Executive Director of DPA.	President, San Francisco Police Commission		I will seek to implement this Recommendation in accordance with the Police Commission's schedule of review for DGOs.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	I will seek to implement this Recommendation. Revisions to DGO 8.10 are scheduled to begin in 2021.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	I will seek to implement this Recommendation. DPA is currently conducting an audit of DGO 8.10. Once the audit is complete, the police department will review DPA's findings and begin the revision.
2	2018-19	Joint Terrorism Task Force: Balancing Public Safety with Civil Rights [July 17, 2019]	R4-e	The use of 'department" should be specific to which one it is referencing (SFPD or DPA).	President, San Francisco Police Commission		I will seek to implement this Recommendation in accordance with the Police Commission's schedule of review for DGOs.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	I will seek to implement this Recommendation. Revisions to DGO 8.10 are scheduled to begin in 2021.	Will Be Implemented in the Future	I will seek to implement this Recommendation. DPA is currently conducting an audit of DG0 8.10. Once the audit is complete, the police department will review DPA's findings and begin the revision.
2	018-19	Joint Terrorism Task Force: Balancing Public Safety with Civil Rights [July 17, 2019]	R4-f	DG0.8.10 should contain only material that is necessary and pertiment to the functions of SFPD. All material that is unrelated to the SFPD should be removed from DG0 8.10.	President, San Francisco Police Commission		I will not seek to implement this Recommendation. DGO & 10 contains references to matters inexticably intertwined with the rules and procedures for criminal investigations implicating first amendment activities. Whether the references are to the Police Commission's authority to review compliance with the guidelines, access to information by civilians, DPA audits, or the collection and maintenance of records related to covered investigations, the provisions of DGO 8.10 are ited directly to the guidelines governing the duties of SFPD officers. SFPD members need to understand the related matters addressed in the DGO as they are unique to this General Order.				
14	2018-19	Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices [July 17, 2019]	R1	SFMTA in coordination with Vision Zero SE should design a public safety campaign regarding a scooler use, laws, safety and heimet use. This campaign should include TNC participation and utilize avriace means of oursech including ads on MUN trains, buses, shelters, social media, and TNC apps no later than June 30, 2020.	Mayor	Has been implemented	The recommendation was implemented in October 2018. SFMTA conducted its own concurrent, updated safety awareness campaign, coinciding with the launch of the Pilot.	**		**	
2	2018-19	Pedestrian Safety in the Fran of Electric Mobility Devices [July 17, 2019]	R2	Signage, stencils, visual symbols illustrating e-scotters, and/or other messaging should be provided to remind mobility device inders that these lanes are available for them to use. Further, additional visual symbols should be added on sidewarks and High-higury Networks to discourage sidewark use by e-scotters. The visual design(s) should be developed and implemented by SFMTA no later than June 30, 2020.	Mayor	Requires further analysis	While scooters are permitted to use bicycle lanes, the lanes themselves are legislated as 'bicycle lanes' SFMTA adheres to the California Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (CA MUTCD), which provides for uniform standards and specifications for al official traffic control devices in California and governs signs and striping for all public roads in the state. CA MUTCD Section 3D.01 C. defines lane-use markings for bicycle lanes as follows: 1, 'Bicycle lane—the preferential lane-use marking for a bicycle lane shall consist of a bicycle symbol or the word marking BIKE LANE (see Chapter 9C and Figures 9C-1 and 9C-3 through 9C-6); 2. No additional lane-use marking so other markings—are permited in bicycle lanes at this time, per the CA MUTCD. 3. The CA MUTCD does not currently have signs or starcils for scooters; therefore, the recommende signs and stancils would not be allowed on public roads in San Francisco. Additionally, given that the City has approximately 160 miles of bicycle lanes, adding stencils and signage to all bicycle lanes would be cost prohibitive. SFMTA will investigate the feasibility of adding visual symbols on sidewalks and High-Injury Networks to discourage sidewalk use by e-scooters.	Will Not Be Implemented: Not Warranted or Not Reasonable	In 2019, SFMTA staff committed to investigating the feasibility of adding visual symbols on sidewalks and High-Injury Network streets to discourage sidewalk use by e-scoolers. Upon investigating cost and feasibility, and considering alternatives, staff do not believe this would be an effective strategy for changing user behavior, nor do staff see it as the most cost-effective means to address the concerns raised by the Civil Grand Jury report.		
2	2018-19	Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices [July 17, 2019]	R3	SFPD Traffic Company should implement one or more "Focus on Five" enforcement campaigns that farget moving violations by motor vehicles as well as bicycles and powered mobility devices in all traffic lanes, with documented results no later than June 30, 2020.	Mayor	Has been implemented	SFPD Traffic Company has already implemented "Focus on the Five" enforcement campaigns targeting motor vehicles. At the end of June 2019, the Traffic Company formed a team of four motorcycle units called the Wision Zero Enforcement Task Force. Since its inception, this specialized team has written over 400 citations, 99% of which were for Focus on the Five violations.	**		**	
2	2018-19	Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices [July 17, 2019]	R4	IZSFG, SFDPH, SFPD, and TNCs should collectively improve injury data reporting to better support root cause analyses. SFMTA and the SFDPH should develop and oversee the revised data collection efforts and prepare a data acquisition plan for review by the above referenced organizations no later than June 30, 2020.	Mayor	Will be implemented	SFDPH, SFMTA, and ZSFG will coordinate to develop a data acquisition plan to improve data collection on factors associated with injury not currently captured in injury data sources, including e-scooler user education and infrastructure factors, by June 30, 2020. The plan will include data sharing with SFPD, as permissible, to inform safety efforts.	Recommendation	SFDPH has been instrumental in advancing medical (ICD-10-CM) codes to capture e-scoolar associated injury nationally, implemented October 1, 220. These codes facilitate consistent identification of e-scoolar related injury at ZSFG and other hospitals and will enable both improved tracking of the overall tourden of e-scoolar right as a sufficient of its prevalence across jurisdictions. Simultaneously, SFMTA's powered scoolar permittees, as well as safety education and signage on devices. Finally, SFPD's established collision reporting process includes e-scooter as a specific vehicle type as well as detailed crash characteristics, including infrastructure factors associated with crashes. Together, these interdisciplinary data sources form a robust data collection framework to understand e-scooter related injury in San Francisco.		

CGJ Year	Report Title [Publication Date]	Rec Number [for Finding Number]	Recommendation	Response Required	Original 2019 Response	Original 2019 Response Text (provided by CGJ)	2020 Response ⁽¹⁾	2020 Response Text	2021 Response ⁽¹⁾	2021 Response Text
2018-19	Pedestrian Safety in the Erra of Electric Mobility Devices [July 17, 2019]	R5	SFMTA City Attorney, and TNCs should review and freessary modify the City- Permittee agreement, the TNC-User agreement, and any other related agreements to assure that responsibility for risk management is allocated to the party/parties best able to manage such risks. This review and potential modification of terms across all agreements should be indupted and of the asting Plot. Any necessary revisions should be incorporated and implemented in all agreements for the replacement program to follow at the conclusion of the Pilot.	Mayor	Has been implemented	The City Attorney's Office has reviewed, in consultation with SFMTA, the City permits, the agreements between the Powered Socoter Share Operators and their users, and the Skip Charger Agreement referenced in the report before the end of the existing Piol Program. The City Attorney's Office has specifically reviewed, in consultation with SFMTA whether to modify the permit terms to fill any potential gap in responsibility between the Powered Socoter Share Operators and their independent contractors. At the end of July 2019, SFMTA issued a new permit application for the replacement permit program, and SFMTA anticipate issuing the next ound of permits with a term to commence after the Piol Program concludes in mid-October 2019. The permit application contains anticipated terms and conditions for the new program, and includes the following new clause in the permit terms to address any optential gap in responsibility between permittee and its independent contractors for obligations ounder the permit. Permitte may subcontract or delegate portions of its obligations only upon prior written approval of SFMTA. Permittee is responsibility between terrate in violation of this provision shall be ruil and void. Ako, SFMTA added a provision requiring that permittees "educate and train" any independent contractors who perform any part of the permitte's maintenance, cleaning, staffing, and repair plan. Recommendation #5 has not been implemented as to modifying the City permits to allocate risk between the Powered Socoter Share Operators and their customers because the City could face unwarranted risk exposure for assessments that it does not have the authority to manage. Based on that tecommendation. SHAMTA dhe authority to manage. Based on that tecommendation. SHAMTA dhe modify the permits to allocate risk between the operators and users.	•			
2018-19	Pedestrian Safely in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices (July 17, 2019)	R5	SPMTA City Attorney, and TNCs should review and freessary modify the City- Permitee agreement, the TNC-User agreements to assure that responsibility for risk management is allocated to the partyparties best able to manage such risks. This review and potential modification of terms across all agreements should be indupted prior to the end of the axisting Plot. Any necessary revisions should be incorporated and implemented in all agreements for the replacement program to follow at the conclusion of the Pilot.	City Attorney		Recommendation #5 has been implemented in part. In consultation with the SFMTA, the City Attomey's Office has reviewed the City permits, the agreements between the Powered Scooter Share Operators ¹ and their users, and the Skip Charger Agreement referenced in the report before the end of the existing Pilot Program. In consultation with the SFMTA, the City Attorney's Office has specifically reviewed whether to modify the permit terms to fill any potential gap in responsibility as between the Powered Scooter Share Operators and their independent contractors. At the end of July 2019, SFMTA issued a new permit application for the replacement permit program, and the SFMTA informs us that it anticipates issuing the next round of permits with a term to commence after the Pilot Program concludes in the permit terms to address any potential gap in responsibility between permitse and its independent contractors or obligations under the permit. <i>Permite application contactes in the permit.</i> The Permit application contractors for obligations under the permit. <i>Permite application contactes in the permit.</i> The Permit application <i>approval</i> of <i>SIMTA</i> , <i>Permites is responsibile</i> for, and <i>must supervise, its personnel and all subcontractors, including independent contractors. Perform obligations under the permit.</i> <i>Any agreement made in violation of this provision shall be null and void.</i>			••	
2018-19	Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices (July 17, 2019)	R5	SFMTA. City Attorney, and TNCs should review and if necessary modify the City- Permittee agreement, the TNC-User agreements to assure that responsibility for risk management is allocated to the party/parties best able to manage such risks. This review and potential modification of terms across all agreements should be intilated prior to the end of the existing Plot. Any necessary revisions should be incorporated and implemented in all agreements for the replacement program to follow at the conclusion of the Pilot.	City Attorney		Also, SFMTA added a provision requiring that permittees "educate and train" any independent contractors who perform any part of the permittee's maintenance, dearing, staffing, and repair plan. Recommendation #5 has not been implemented as to modifying the City permits to allocate risk as between the Powered Scooter Share Operators and users to the party best able to manage such risks. The City Risk Manager recommended that it is not advisable for the City to insert itself into the risk allocation as between the Powered Scooter Share Operators and their customers because the City could face unwarranted risk exposure or assessments for which it does not have the authority to manage. Based on that recommendation, the SFMTA did not modify the permits to allocate risk between the operators and users. ¹ The Grand Jury Report refers to the Powered Scooter Share Operators as "Transportation Network Companies" or "TNCs." We do not use that term because, under Stale law, that term has a specific meaning and refers or yrearranged transportation services to connect passengers and drivers using a personal vehicle." (Cal. Pub. Util. Code § 5431.)				
2018-19	Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices [July 17, 2019]	R3	SFPD Traffic Company should implement one or more "Focus on Five" enforcement campaigns that target moving violations by motor vehicles as well as bicycles and powered mobility devices in all traffic lanes, with documented results no later than June 30, 2020.	Chief, San Francisco Police Department	Has been implemented	SFPD Traffic Company has already implemented "Focus on the Five" enforcement campaigns targeting motor vehicles. At the end of June 2019, the Traffic Company formed a team of four motorycle units called the Vision Zero Enforcement Task Force. Since its inception, this specialized team has written over 400 citations, 99% of which were for Focus on the Five violations.	**		**	

Co	GJ Report Title ear [Publication Date]	Rec Number [for Finding Number] Recommendation	Response Required	Original 2019 Response	Original 2019 Response Text (provided by CGJ)	2020 Response ⁽¹⁾	2020 Response Text	2021 Response ⁽¹⁾	2021 Response Text
2018	I-19 Pedestrian Safety in 1 Era of Electric Mobility Devices [July 17, 2019]	e R4	ZSFG, SFDPH, SFPD, and TNCs should collectively improve injury data reporting to better support root cause analyses. SFMTA and the SFDPH should develop and oversee the revised data acquisition plan of review by the above referenced organizations no later than June 30, 2020.	Chief, San Francisco Police Department	Will be implemented	SFDPH, SFMTA, and ZSFG will coordinate to develop a data acquisition plan to improve data collection on factors associated with injury not currently captured in injury data sources, including e-scooler user education and infrastructure factors, by June 30, 2020. The plan will include data sharing with SFPD, as permissible, to inform safety efforts.	Recommendation Implemented	SFDPH response: SFDPH has been instrumental in advancing medical (ICD-10-CM) codes to capture e-scooter associated injury nationally, implemented October 1, 2020. These codes facilitate consistent identification of e-scooter related injury at 25FG and other hospitals and will enable both improved tracking of the overall burden of e-scooter injury as well as comparison of its prevalence across jurisdictions. Simultaneously, SFMTA's powered scooter permit program requires regular disclosure of user-reported injury crashes by permittees, as well as safety education and signage on devices. Finally, SFDPS established collision reporting process includes e-scooter as a specific vehicle type as well as detailed crash characteristics, including infrastructure factors associated with crashes. Together, these interdisciplinary data sources form a robust data collection framework to understand e-scooter related injury in San Francisco.		
2018	I-19 Pedestrian Safety in t Era of Electric Mobility Devices (July 17, 2019)	e R1	SFMTA in coordination with Vision Zero SP should design a public safety campaign regarding - escooler use, laws, safety and heimet use. This campaign should include TNC participation and utilize avrices means of outreach including adds on MUNI trains, buses, shellers, social media, and TNC apps no later than June 30, 2020.	Director, San Francisco Municipal Transportation Agency	Has been implemented	The recommendation was implemented in October 2018. SFMTA conducted its own concurrent, updated safety awareness campaign, ac as follows: 1. Graphics demonstrate safe and unsafe behaviors while riding a scooter. 2. Developed Tobs and Dorti's vention and interior ads on MUN bases and light rail vehicles, which ran city-wide for at least one month, beginning in October 2018. 2,760,000 (metric measuring how many potential people saw the bus ad during the 4 week run). 4. Also developed printed colateral, printed 3,000 paim cards. 5. Distributed to Scoot and Skip, who then distributed them to users and the public. 6. SFMTA Taxiz Enforcement staff also distributed them to users and the public. 7. Digital version distributed to Board of Supervisors and community partners (Lighthouse for the Blind, Independent Living Resource Center, Senior and Disability Action, DPW, Mayor's Office on Disability.). 8. The scooter education campaign also ran on Vision Zero SF social media (Facebook and Twitter) and reached an additional 1,500 people.				
2018	19 Pedestrian Safety in 1 Era of Electric Mobility Devices [July 17, 2019]	e R2	Signage, stencils, visual symbols illustrating -scotters, and/or other messaging should be provided to remine mobility device riders that these lanes are available for them to use. Further, additional visual symbols should be added on sidewalks and High-Injuy Networks to discourage sidewalk use by e-scooters. The visual design(s) should be developed and implemented by SFMTA no later than June 30, 2020.	Director, San Francisco Municipal Transportation Agency	Requires further analysis	While scooters are permitted to use bicycle lanes, the lanes themselves are legislated as bicycle lanes. SFMTA adheres to the California Marual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (CA MUTCD), which provides for uniform standards and specifications for all official traffic control devices in California and governs signs and striping for all public roads in the state. CA MUTCD Section 3D.01 C. defines lane-use markings for bicycle lanes as follows: 1. "Bicycle lane—the preferential lane-use marking for a bicycle system consist of a bicycle symbol or the word marking BIKE LANE (see Chapter 9C and Figures 9C-1 and 9C-3 through 9C-6)." 2. No additional lane-use markings corter markings—are permitted in bicycle lanes at this time, per the CA MUTCD. 3. The CA MUTCD does not currently have signs or stencils for scooters; therefore, the recommended signs and stencils would not be allowed on public roads in San Francisco. Additionally, given that the City has approximately 160 miles of bicycle lanes, adding stencils and signage to all bicycle lanes would be cost prohibitive. SMTA will investigate the feasibility of adding visual symbols on sidewaks and High-Injury Networks to discourage sidewalk use by e-scooters.	Will Not Be Implemented: Not Warranted or Not Reasonable	In 2019, SFMTA staff committed to investigating the feasibility of adding visual symbols on sidewalks and High-Higuy Network streets to discourage sidewalk use by e-scooters. Upon investigating cost and feasibility, and considering alternatives, staff do not believe this would be an effective strategy for changing user behavior, nor do staff see it as the most cost-effective means to address the concerns raised by the Civil Grand Jury report.		
2018	I-19 Pedestrian Safety in t Era of Electric Mobility Devices [July 17, 2019]	e R4	2SFG, SFDPH, SFPD, and TNCs should collectively improve injury data reporting to better support tool cause analyses. SFMTA and the SFDPH should develop and oversee the revised data collection efforts and prepare a data acquisition plan for review by the above referenced organizations no later than June 30, 2020.	Director, San Francisco Municipal Transportation Agency	Will be implemented	SFDPH, SFMTA, and 2SFG will coordinate to develop a data acquisition plan to improve data collection on factors associated with injury not currently captured in injury data sources, including e-scooler used education and infrastructure factors, by June 30, 2020. The plan will include data sharing with SFPD, as permissible, to inform safety efforts.	Recommendation Implemented	SFDPH has been instrumental in advancing medical (ICD-10-CM) codes to capture e-scooler associated injury nationally, implemented October 1, 2020. These codes facilitate consistent identification of e-scooler related injury at ZSFG and other hospitals and will enable both improved tracking of the overall burden of e-scooler injury as well as comparison of its prevalence across jurisdictions. Simultaneously, SFMTA's powered scooler permittees, as well as safety education and signage on devices. Finally, SFPD's established collision reporting process includes e-scooler as a specific vehicle type as well as detailed crash characteristics, including infrastructure factors associated with crashes. Together, these interdisciplinary data sources form a robust data collection framework to understand e-scooter related injury in San Francisco.	•	

CGJ Year	Report Title [Publication Date]	Rec Number [for Finding Number]	Recommendation	Response Required	Original 2019 Response	Original 2019 Response Text (provided by CGJ)	2020 Response ⁽¹⁾	2020 Response Text	2021 Response ⁽¹⁾	2021 Response Text
2018-19	Pedestrian Safety in the Erra of Electric Mobility Devices [July 17, 2019]	R5	SFMTA City Attorney, and TNCs should review and freessary modify the City- Pernitiee agreement, the TNC-User agreement, and any other related agreements to assure that responsibility for risks mangement is allocated to the party/parties best able to manage such risks. This review and potential modification of terms across al agreements should be infatted prior to the end of the existing Piol. Any necessary revisions should be incorporated and implemented in al agreements of the replacement program to follow at the conclusion of the Pilot.	Director, San Francisco Municipal Transportation Agency	Has been implemented	The City Attorney's Office has reviewed, in consultation with SFMTA, the City permits, the agreements between the Powered Scooter Share Operators and their users, and the Skip Charger Agreement referenced in the report before the end of the existing Piot Program. The City Attorney's Office has specifically reviewed, in consultation with SFMTA whether to modify the permit terms to fill any potential gap in responsibility between the Powered Scooter Share Operators and their independent contractors. At the end of July 2019, SFMTA issued a new permit application for the replacement permit program, and SFMTA anticipates issuing the next round of permits with a term to commence after the Piot Program concludes in mid-October 2019. The permit application continues anticipated terms and conditions for the new program, and includes the following new clause in the permit terms to address any potential gap in responsibility between the permit terms to address any potential gap in responsibility between permittee and its independent contractors for obligations on dire to the permit. Permitte may subcontract or delegate portions of its obligations only upon prior written approval of SFMTA. Permittee is responsible for, and must supervise, its personnel and all subcontractors, hourd youd, Also, SFMTA added a provision requiring that permittees "educate and train" any independent contractors who perform any part of the permittee's maintenance, cleaning, staffing, and repair plan. Recommendation #5 has not been implemented as to modifying the City permits to allocate risk between the Powered Scooter Share Operators and allocation between the Powered Scooter Share Operators and allocation between the Powered Scooter Share Operators and allocation terve the terve the autivity to manage. Based on that recommendation #5 has not bave the autivity to manage. Based on that recommendation, SFMTA did not modify the permits to allocate risk between the operators and users.	••			
2018-19	Peoestran Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices [July 17, 2019]	K4	25Hc, SHDPH, SHPU, and INCS should collectively improve injury data reporting to better support root cause analyses. SFMTA and the SFDPH should develop and oversee the revised data collection efforts and prepare a data acquisition plan for review by the above referenced organizations no later than June 30, 2020.	Director, Department of Public Health	Will be implemented	SFUPF, SFMIA, and 25-IG WIII Coordnate to develop a data acquisition plan to improve data collection on factors associated with injury not currently captured in injury data sources, including e-socotor user education and infrastructure factors, by June 30, 2020. The plan will include data sharing with SFPD, as permissible, to inform safety efforts.	Recommendation	SPD-Pr has been instrumental in advalancing medical (LD-10-CM) codes to capture e-scooler associated injuny nationally, implemented October 1, 2020. These codes facilitate consistent identification of e-scooler related injury at ZSF and other hospitals and will enable both improved tracking of the overall burden of e-scooter injury as well as comparison of its prevalence across jurisdictions. Simultaneously, SFMTA's powered scooter permit program requires regular disclosure of user-reported injury crashes by permittees, as well as safety education and signage on devices. Finally, SFPD's established collision reporting process includes e-scooter as a specific vehicle type as well as detailed crash characteristics, including infrastructure factors associated with crashes. Together, these interdisciplinary data sources form a robust data Francisco.		
2018-19	Pedestrian Safety in the Era of Electric Mobility Devices [July 17, 2019]	R6	The Board of Supervisors should allow the Public Safety Advisory Committee to terminate on October 1, 2019 as designated in the San Francisco Municipal Code.	Board of Supervisors	Will not be implemented because it is not warranted or reasonable	In light of the Pedestrian Safety Advisory Committee's progress over the last year in addressing quorum issues, the ongoing declared state of emergency for pedestrian safety, and that the Pedestrian Safety Advisory Committee is the sole advisory body reporting to the Board on this crucial issue, the Board of Supervisors intends to extend the surset date for the committee for an additional year, during which time the committee is advised to review and recommend changes in its structure to improve its efficacy going forward. The Board of Supervisors urges the Mayor to cause the implementation of the accepted findings and recommendations through his/her department heads and through the development of the annual budget.			**	

BOARD of SUPERVISORS



City Hall 1 Dr. Carlton B. Goodlett Place, Room 244 San Francisco, CA 94102-4689 Tel. No. (415) 554-5184 Fax No. (415) 554-5163 TDD/TTY No. (415) 554-5227

MEMORANDUM

- TO: Dennis Herrera, General Manager, Public Utilities Commission Chief Jeanine Nicholson, Fire Department Brian Strong, Program Director, Office of Resilience and Capital Planning
- FROM: Alisa Somera, Clerk, Public Safety and Neighborhood Safety Committee Board of Supervisors
- DATE: January 29, 2022

SUBJECT: LEGISLATION INTRODUCED

The Board of Supervisors' Public Safety and Neighborhood Safety Committee has received the following hearing request, introduced by Supervisor Mandelman on January 25, 2022:

File No. 220108 Hearing - Emergency Firefighting Water System 2050 Planning Study

Hearing on the San Francisco Public Utilities Commission's (SFPUC) Emergency Fighting Water System 2050 Planning Study and the status of efforts to expand the City's high-pressure fire protection water supply and distribution system to cover all unprotected neighborhoods by 2034 as called for in Board of Supervisors Resolution No. 484-19; requesting the SFPUC, Fire Department, and Office of Resilience and Capital Planning to report.

You are receiving this referral since your department is being requested to present and report when this matter is agendized for a hearing.

If you have any comments or reports to be included with the file, please forward them to me at the Board of Supervisors, City Hall, Room 244, 1 Dr. Carlton B. Goodlett Place, San Francisco, CA 94102 or to <u>alisa.somera@sfgov.org</u>.

c: Masood Ordikhani, Public Utilities Commission John Scarpulla, Public Utilities Commission Theresa Ludwig, Fire Department